Responsive Forest Governance Initiative (RFGI)
Supporting Resilient Forest Livelihoods
through Local Representation

The Effects of REDD+ on Forest People in Africa

Access, Distribution, and Participation in Governance



Emily Anderson Hisham Zerriffi

The Effe	ects of REDD+ o	n Forest Peopl	le in Africa	

Responsive Forest Governance Initiative (RFGI) Research Programme

The Responsive Forest Governance Initiative (RFGI) is a research and training program, focusing on environmental governance in Africa. It is jointly managed by the Council for the Development of Social Sciences Research in Africa (CODESRIA), the International Union for the Conservation of Nature (IUCN) and the University of Illinois at Urbana Champaign (UIUC). It is funded by the Swedish International Development Agency (SIDA). The RFGI activities are focused on 12 countries: Burkina Faso, Cameroon, DR Congo, Ghana, Kenya, Mozambique, Nigeria, Senegal, South Africa, South Sudan, Tanzania, and Uganda. The initiative is also training young, in-country policy researchers in order to build an Africa-wide network of environmental governance analysts.

Nations worldwide have introduced decentralization reforms aspiring to make local government responsive and accountable to the needs and aspirations of citizens so as to improve equity, service delivery and resource management. Natural resources, especially forests, play an important role in these decentralizations since they provide local governments and local people with needed revenue, wealth, and subsistence. Responsive local governments can provide forest resource-dependent populations the flexibility they need to manage, adapt to and remain resilient in their changing environment. RFGI aims to enhance and help institutionalize widespread responsive and accountable local governance processes that reduce vulnerability, enhance local wellbeing, and improve forest management with a special focus on developing safeguards and guidelines to ensure fair and equitable implementation of the Reduced Emissions from Deforestation and Forest Degradation (REDD+) and climate-adaptation interventions.

REDD+ is a global Programme for disbursing funds, primarily to pay national governments of developing countries, to reduce forest carbon emission. REDD+ will require permanent local institutions that can integrate local needs with national and international objectives. The results from RFGI Africa research will be compared with results from collaborators in Asia and South America in order to enhance RFGI comparative scope, and to broaden its geographic policy relevance.

RFGI Working Paper Series Editors' Note

James Murombedzi, Jesse Ribot and Gretchen Walters

Struggles for control over and access to nature and natural resources; struggles over land, forests, pastures and fisheries, are struggles for survival, self determination, and meaning. Natural resources are central to rural lives and livelihoods: they provide the material resources for survival, security, and freedom. To engage in the world requires assets that enable individuals, households, and communities to act in and on the world around them. The ability to accumulate assets and the ability to access government and market services depends partly on such resources along with the political-economic infrastructure - rights, recourse, representation, markets, and social services – that are the domain of government. Democracy, which both enables and requires the freedom to act, is predicated on these assets and infrastructures. Since the 1980s, African governments have been implementing local government decentralization reforms aimed at making local government more democratic by making them responsive and accountable to citizen needs and aspirations; in many places this has been done through a decentralisation of natural resource governance to local administrations. In order to be responsive to individual, household and community demands, local governments, too, need resources and decision-making powers. There must be a public domain - a set of public resources, such as forests or fisheries, which constitute this domain of democracy, the domain of decisions and services that citizens can demand of government. Natural resources, when decentralized into the domain of local authority, form an important part of the resources of individuals, households, communities and governments, making possible this move toward local democracy.

Natural resources provide local governments and people with wealth and subsistence. While nature is not the only source of rural income, the decentralization of natural resources governance is a core component of local government reform. However, governance reforms have been implemented in a context broadly characterized by an enduring crisis of the Western economic and financial systems, which in turn has stimulated privatization and liberalization in every sphere of life, including nature. The process has deprived local governments of public resources – depriving individuals and communities of a reason to engage, as a powerless government is not worth trying to influence. Privatization is depriving forest-dependent peoples of their access to formerly 'public' or traditionally managed resources. National governments, as well as international bodies such as the United Nations programme, titled the Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and forest Degradation (REDD), further this trend as they collaborate with private interests to promote the privatization of natural resources. The resulting enclosures threaten the wellbeing of resourcedependent populations and the viability of democratic reforms.

The specter of climate change is deepening the crisis of enclosure. A key response to climate change has been the attempt to mitigate greenhouse gas emissions through enhancing the capacity of forests in the developing world to store carbon, ostensibly for the benefit of the atmosphere as well as the communities who use these forests. UN REDD seeks to pay communities, through their national governments, to conserve their forests as carbon storage. A plus '+' was added to REDD, forming REDD +, to call for improved ecosystems services, forest management, conservation, forest restoration and afforestation to enhance the capacity for carbon storage. Designed on the basis of similar payments for environmental services (PES) schemes, REDD+ has the potential to inject vast new sums of money into local resource use and governance. In the context of fragile local governments, nascent democracies and powerful private interests, such cash inflows result in the commercialization and privatization of forests and natural resources and the dispossession of local resource users. This financialization of natural resources grossly diminishes the scope for democratic natural resource governance schemes. To be sure, the implementation of REDD+ can also learn from and avoid the pitfalls experienced in these PES schemes, especially if they represent local interests in natural resource governance decision making.

The Responsive Forest Governance Initiative (RFGI) is an Africa-wide

environmental-governance research and training program focusing on enabling responsive and accountable decentralization to strengthen the representation of forest-based rural people in local-government decision making. Since January 2012, the programme has carried out 33 case studies in 12 African countries, with comparative cases Nepal and Peru, to assess the conditions under which central authorities devolve forest management and use decisions to local government, and the conditions that enable local government to engage in sound, equitable and pro-poor forest management. Aimed at enabling local government to play an integrative role in rural development and natural resource management, these case studies are now being finalized and published to elicit public discourse and debate on local government and local democracy. This Working Paper series will publish the RFGI case studies as well as other comparative studies of decentralized natural resources governance in Africa and elsewhere that focus on the interesction between local democracy and natural resource management schemes. Using the concepts of institutional choice and recognition, the cases deal with a comprehensive range of issues in decentralized forest management in the context of REDD+, including the institutional choices of intervening agencies; the effects of such choices on accountability and representation; and the relationships between local government and other local institutions. The series will also include syntheses discussing the main findings of the RFGI research programme.

Based at CODESRIA, and funded by the Swedish International Development Agency (SIDA), the RFGI is a three year collaborative initiative of CODESRIA, the University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign (UIUC) and the International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN). RFGI working papers and documents, including the background papers, the RFGI programme description, and the RFGI Methods Handbook, can be found on line at:

- http://www.codesria.org/spip.php,
- http://www.iucn.org/fr/propos/union/secretariat/bureaux/paco/programmes/paco_forest/thematiques_et_projets/gouvernance_and_iucn_tools/projets_en_cours/_programme_de_recherche__initiative_pour_la_gouvernance_democratique_des_forets_/
- UIUC http://sdep.beckman.illinois.edu/programs/democracyenvironment. aspx#RFGI

RFGI Working Paper No. 1

RFGI Series Editors: James Murombedzi, Jesse Ribot and Gretchen Walters

Responsive Forest Governance Initiative (RFGI)

Supporting Resilient Forest Livelihoods through Local Representation

The Effects of REDD+ on Forest People in Africa

Access, Distribution, and Participation in Governance

Emily Anderson

Hisham Zerriffi







© CODESRIA 2012

Council for the Development of Social Science Research in Africa Avenue Cheikh Anta Diop, Angle Canal IV BP 3304 Dakar, CP 18524, Senegal

Website: www.codesria.org

ISBN: 978-2-86978-592-2

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopy, recording or any information storage or retrieval system without prior permission from CODESRIA.

Typesetting: Djibril Fall

Cover image: With permission from Marc Ribot for his Ceramic Dog: Your Turn

(2012 Northern Spy Records/Yellowbird Records)

Cover design: Ibrahima Fofana

Distributed in Africa by CODESRIA

Distributed elsewhere by African Books Collective, Oxford, UK

Website: www.africanbookscollective.com

The Council for the Development of Social Science Research in Africa (CODESRIA) is an independent organisation whose principal objectives are to facilitate research, promote research-based publishing and create multiple forums geared towards the exchange of views and information among African researchers. All these are aimed at reducing the fragmentation of research in the continent through the creation of thematic research networks that cut across linguistic and regional boundaries.

CODESRIA publishes Africa Development, the longest standing Africa based social science journal; Afrika Zamani, a journal of history; the African Sociological Review; the African Journal of International Affairs; Africa Review of Books and the Journal of Higher Education in Africa. The Council also co-publishes the Africa Media Review; Identity, Culture and Politics: An Afro-Asian Dialogue; The African Anthropologist and the Afro-Arab Selections for Social Sciences. The results of its research and other activities are also disseminated through its Working Paper Series, Green Book Series, Monograph Series, Book Series, Policy Briefs and the CODESRIA Bulletin. Select CODESRIA publications are also accessible online at www.codesria.org.

CODESRIA would like to express its gratitude to the Swedish International Development Cooperation Agency (SIDA), the International Development Research Centre (IDRC), the Ford Foundation, the Carnegie Corporation of New York (CCNY), the Norwegian Agency for Development Cooperation (NORAD), the Danish Agency for International Development (DANIDA), the French Ministry of Cooperation, the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP), the Netherlands Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Rockefeller Foundation, the Open Society Foundations (OSFs), TrustAfrica, UNESCO, UN Women, the African Capacity Building Foundation (ACBF) and the Government of Senegal for supporting its research, training and publication programmes.

Contents

Ab	out the Authors	xi
1.	Introduction	1
2.	Methods	5
	Participation in Governance	5
	Access and Distribution of REDD+ Resources	6
	Access and Distribution of Forest Resources	7
	Access to Markets	7
3.	Forest Management in Africa: Context and Trends	9
	The Colonial Legacy of Diminished Community Control	
	Over Forests	9
	Governance Reforms and Community Participation	
	in Forest Management	10
	Increasing International Interest in Africa's Forests	
	Current Outlook	14
4.	Introducing REDD+	15
	Different Countries, Different Implementations of REDD+	17
	How is REDD+ Different from Other Types of Forest Management	
	and Carbon Forestry?	18
5.	Implications of REDD+ for Forest People	21
	Policy and Governance	
	Rights and Ownership Over Forest Lands and Resources	
	Benefit-sharing and Compensation	
	Intermediaries, Corruption and Elite Capture of Benefits	
	micerinedianes, Contuption and Line Capture of Deficits	11

	Wealth, Resources, and Knowledge	45
	Approaches to REDD+ Implementation	49
6.	Conclusion	55
Να	otes	57
Re	eferences	59
Αţ	opendices	71

About the Authors

Emily Anderson is a PhD student in the Institute for Resources, Environment and Sustainability at the University of British Columbia. She is a Liu Scholar in the Liu Institute for Global Issues and on the Steering Committee of the International Development Research Network. She holds a Master of Arts in Resource Management and Environmental Studies from the University of British Columbia and a Bachelor of Science from Mount Allison University. Her research uses both social and natural science approaches to explore how the participation of small farmers in developing countries in global markets affects local social-ecological systems.

Hisham Zerriffi is the Ivan Head South/North Research Chair and an Assistant Professor at the Liu Institute for Global Issues at the University of British Columbia. Dr. Zerriffi's primary research focus is at the intersection of technology, energy, the environment and human welfare, with a particular focus on rural areas of the developing world. Much of his research focuses on institutional factors impacting the diffusion of new technology, determinants and patterns of household energy choice and relationships between global environmental concerns and development. He holds a doctorate from Carnegie Mellon University in Engineering and Public Policy and was previously a Post-Doctoral Scholar at Stanford University and a Visiting Fellow at the World Resources Institute.

Introduction

It is estimated that about 15 million hectares are deforested globally every year (FAO 2006). This is significant, given that forests contain more than half of the world's terrestrial carbon, and account for 80 per cent of carbon exchanged between terrestrial ecosystems and the atmosphere (Montagnini and Nair 2004). Recently, conversion of forest to cropland has been the largest source of land-use emissions (Watson *et al.* 2000). Consequently, forestry activities will be important in mitigating global climate change. More than 120 countries signed the Copenhagen Accord recognizing 'the need to enhance removals of greenhouse gas emission by forests' (UNFCCC 2009, Decision 2/CP.15).

Forestry activities will likely play a particularly important role in mitigation activities in developing countries, in part because of the contributions of deforestation in developing countries to climate change, and in part because of the hoped-for potential for development benefits that might accompany mitigation activities. It has been estimated that tropical forest conversion is responsible for 25 per cent of $\rm CO_2$ and up to 10 per cent of $\rm N_2O$ emissions globally (Palm *et al.* 2004). The FAO (2006) found that of the continents surveyed between 1990 and 2000, Africa and South America had the largest net loss of forests. Forestry-and agroforestry activities can also be attractive mitigation options in developing countries where there is widespread reliance of rural livelihoods on agricultural and forestland.

Reduced Emissions from Deforestation and forest Degradation (REDD+) is an approach to climate change mitigation that was officially adopted for discussion under the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) at the thirteenth Conference of Parties (COP) in Bali in 2007

(Decision 2/CP.13). This decision included recognition that REDD+ could contribute local benefits and should take into account the needs of local people (Brown et al. 2008). REDD+ was developed to reflect a desire to use climate funding to support not only activities that reduce emissions, but also sustainable forest management practices that could generate complimentary human and local environment benefits (Cerbu et al. 2011). The Copenhagen Accord, created and signed at COP 15 in 2009, commits global actors to immediate implementation of REDD+ (Decision 2/CP.15). Subsequently, a set of environmental and social safeguards for REDD+ implementation was agreed to at COP 16 in Cancun in December 2010 (Decision 1/CP.16.Add.1), with additional guidelines for implementing safeguards coming in Durban in 2011 (UNFCCC Draft decision -/CP.17). In this paper, 'REDD+' is used to refer to current and future activities under the Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and forest Degradation banner, and any example activities that have been implemented explicitly as REDD+. 'REDD' is used to differentiate any activities implemented prior to the standardization and widespread use of REDD+, which may not have explicit social and environmental safeguards.

International initiatives have been established by the United Nations (UN-REDD+ Programme), the World Bank (Forest Carbon Partnership Facility, FCPF), and other donors to assist governments in the design and implementation of REDD+ activities. The REDD+ Partnership is another major international initiative launched during the Oslo Climate and Forest Conference in 2010, representing 71 countries (REDD+ Partnership 2011). There are also a number of voluntary REDD+ activities that have been implemented by nongovernmental organizations (NGOs), governments, and carbon companies. Possible implementation strategies for REDD+ vary considerably, and can include both policies (e.g. policies to address illegal logging) and actions (e.g. market-based projects to promote forest conservation) (Tacconi *et al.* 2010). Theoretically, any approach that addresses forest degradation and/or deforestation can be used (Peskett *et al.* 2008).

REDD+ is still in the early stages of implementation but however it is implemented, it will have ramifications for climate change and development globally. Where REDD+ activities are implemented, they will affect forest-dependent economies at local through regional scales, and will have important implications for forest-dependent industries like timber and biofuels. In particular, REDD+

initiatives will directly affect an estimated 1.6 billion 'forest people' – indigenous peoples and local communities, who rely on forests for their livelihoods (Sikor *et al.* 2010). The reliance of the rural poor on forest resources (Campbell *et al.* 2008) means the impacts of REDD+ will be particularly pertinent in Sub-Saharan Africa, where much of the population is poor and rural (United Nations 2009, 2010). Although Sub-Saharan Africa has generally been under-represented as a location for mitigation activities,¹ Africa's share of the forest carbon market has grown considerably in recent years (Hamilton et al. 2010; Jindal et al. 2008) and is expected to continue this growth trend (Diaz et al. 2011). A number of REDD+ activities are underway in Sub-Saharan Africa. Table 1 shows the distribution of these activities as of late 2009. Some countries are implementing REDD+ demonstration activities, while others are in earlier states of developing REDD+ Project Idea Notes (R-PINS).

Table 1. REDD+ activities in Africa as of October 2009

	REDD+	REDD+
	readiness	demonstration
	activities	activities
Madagascar	5	3
Tanzania	3	
Ethiopia	1	1
Kenya	1	1
Uganda	1	1
DRC	4	3
Cameroon	4	2
Republic of Congo	2	
Central African Republic	1	
Gabon	1	
Ghana		1
Ivory Coast		1
South Africa		1
Mozambique		1

Source: Based on Cerbu et al. (2011).

Although it is acknowledged that REDD+ alone is inadequate for addressing underlying issues of redistribution of responsibility for climate change and drivers of deforestation related to global demands for land and resources (Accra Caucus 2010), there is nevertheless hope that REDD+ could provide unique opportunities to realize substantial global climate and local development benefits (Angelsen 2009). At the same time, concerns are also being expressed that forest people, particularly marginal groups, may not benefit, or may experience harmful effects as a result of REDD+ (Griffiths 2008; Tacconi et al. 2010). And, REDD+ is growing: in 2010, REDD+ surpassed all other project types on the global primary forest carbon market, supplying 19.5 Mt CO₂e of a total 29.0 MtCO₂e contracted (Diaz et al. 2011). The success and legitimacy of REDD+ in delivering concurrent global climate and local development benefits will depend largely on whether REDD+ is able to respect the rights of and meet the needs and expectations of various stakeholders, especially forest people (Angelsen 2009; Lindhjem et al. 2010; Springate-Baginski and Wollenberg 2010). To effectively protect the rights and interests of forest people, it will be important to understand how REDD+ has and is likely to impact the people who live around and in and depend on the resources of forests managed under REDD+ regimes (Tacconi et al. 2010).

This paper explores the documented and expected effects of REDD+ activities on forest people in Africa, focusing on access and distribution of REDD+ and forest resources and participation in REDD+ governance. We argue that although many of the formidable challenges that face effective forest governance in Africa generally will also be challenging in REDD+, REDD+ is potentially equipped to improve on outcomes for forest people over other forest management initiatives, largely because of its scale and internationally agreed upon safeguards. To succeed in realizing this potential, REDD+ must translate potential and intention into action and reality by mobilizing the resources necessary to drive the forest governance reforms that will be the foundation for REDD+ success in Africa. This will mean, in part, learning from other forest management activities, and developing rigorous indicators and research procedures for monitoring REDD+ effects.

Methods

We reviewed academic and grey literature reporting on REDD and REDD+ outcomes and research. Because REDD+ is still fairly new, few pilot projects have been implemented, and none have been underway for longer than a few years. Relevant literature on conservation and development approaches likely to be used to implement REDD+ and trends in forest management in Sub-Saharan Africa were therefore also consulted. We focused on literature reporting on Sub-Saharan Africa, and on RFGI focus countries (Burkina Faso, Ghana, Mozambique, Uganda, Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC), Senegal, Mali, Cameroon, Tanzania, South Africa and Sudan) whenever possible. Throughout the text, 'Africa' refers to Sub-Saharan Africa. Relevant literature from other geographic areas was also included where it provided additional insight. Both empirical and theoretical literature was included.

The effects of REDD+ and REDD+-like activities on forest people (those living in or close to forests who rely on forests for their livelihoods) were considered in terms of four dependent or outcome variables: participation in REDD+ governance, access to and distribution of REDD+ resources, access to and distribution of forest resources, and access to markets.

Participation in governance

This is the ability of forest people to meaningfully participate in decision-making with respect to the design and implementation of the REDD+ process. Participation in governance (or the lack thereof) of forest people, and vulnerable sub-sets of the community in particular, has implications for the equity, legitimacy, and ulti-

mately, the long-term viability and success of the REDD+ process (Accra Caucus 2010; Larson and Ribot 2009; Springate-Baginski and Wollenberg 2010; Thompson *et al.* 2011; Vatn *et al.* 2009). Without the meaningful participation of forest people in the entire REDD+ process, there is concern that REDD+-driven changes in law and policy could result in negative rather than positive outcomes for local people (Laltaika 2009; Sena 2009), undermine their procedural rights and rights to self-determination under REDD+ (Brown *et al.* 2008; Sikor *et al.* 2010) and ultimately jeopardize the contribution of REDD+ to climate change mitigation (Accra Caucus 2010; Angelsen 2009; Phelps *et al.* 2010). Thompson *et al.* (2011) argue that significant, effective engagement of local people will be critical in aligning the interests of forest people in developing countries with those motivated by global climate change goals in developed countries. This engagement will require both opportunities for forest people to be involved in decision-making and implementation of REDD+, as well as the capacity to make use of these opportunities.

Access and Distribution of REDD+Resources

REDD+ resources are the benefits that accrue to forest people as a result of REDD+ implementation. These can be both direct and indirect and include both monetary (e.g. carbon payments) and non-monetary benefits (e.g. infrastructure built using REDD+ investments). Benefits to forest people can accrue at different levels, including individual, household and community, depending on how payments schemes in REDD+ are designed and implemented. Access is the ability of forest people to benefit from something (Ribot and Peluso 2003), in this case, REDD+.

There is hope that REDD+ could improve sustainable forest management and provide new opportunities for forest people to generate income through participation in carbon markets, monitoring and conservation programs, and through carbon fund allocations to individuals and communities (Danielsen *et al.* 2011; Ghazoul *et al.* 2010; Lawlor and Huberman 2009). In Africa, forest carbon schemes have been found to contribute significant economic benefits to local communities both through increased household earnings and access to non-timber forest products (Jindal *et al.* 2008). Forest people could also realize benefits without participating directly in carbon markets, for example through wages or community funds (Tacconi *et al.* 2010).

Access and Distribution of Forest Resources

This is the access and distribution of forest resources to local people when forests are managed under REDD+. Forest resources include the full range of forest materials and services that forest people rely on for their livelihoods. These include tangible resources like land, timber, and non-timber forest products (NTFP), as well as other services like local climate regulation. Forest peoples' rights to equitable sharing of benefits under REDD+ is intended to extend beyond equitable distribution of REDD+ programmatic benefits to include equitable distribution of benefits from the forest itself (Sikor *et al.* 2010). By facilitating sustainable forest management, it is hoped that REDD+ could increase opportunities for nontimber forest product commercialization and ecotourism (Ghazoul *et al.* 2010). Conversely, REDD+ could perpetuate or exacerbate conflict and inequalities in distribution of benefits from forest resources in Africa, particularly if REDD+ facilitates privatization of resources (Vatn *et al.* 2009).

Access to Markets

This includes access and distribution of access to markets for environmental services and forest resources. This variable is tightly tied to access and distribution of REDD+ and forest resources. Where REDD+ is implemented using a Payment for Ecosystem Services (PES) scheme, the ability of forest people to access REDD+ benefits will depend in part on their ability to access environmental service markets on which to sell the carbon credits generated. Similarly, the impact on forest people of changes in access to and/or quality of forest resources will depend in part on how REDD+ will affect their ability to participate in markets for forest resources.

REDD+ affects these four variables through the ways that it interacts with a number of independent contextual variables, like policies and governance structures, rights and ownership, etc. We explore how REDD+ affects the four outcome variables through its effects on the following six independent variables:

- 1. Policy and governance.
- 2. Rights and ownership of forest land and resources.
- 3. Benefit-sharing and compensation.

- 4. Intermediaries, corruption and elite capture of benefits.
- 5. Wealth, resources and knowledge.
- 6. Approaches to REDD+ implementation.

These variables represent key issues and challenges that will be important to address in the implementation and evaluation of REDD+ activities. Both sets of variables are not mutually exclusive; most overlap and interact.

Three broad types of evidence are considered in analysing expected REDD+ effects: evidence from early REDD and REDD+ projects; evidence from REDD+like forest management activities (proxies) that may be used as foundations and tools for implementing REDD+ and/or are considered useful sources of lessons for REDD+; and, reported outcomes and predictions of various types of models (primarily economic models of forest resource usage). REDD+ proxies include integrated conservation and development projects (ICDPs), Community Forest Management (CFM), and Payments for Environmental Services (PES), with a focus on carbon forestry as this is most relevant to REDD+. Descriptions of these activities and discussion of their similarities and differences to REDD+ are included in Appendix 1. To contextualize expected REDD+ effects, the background on trends in forest management in Sub-Saharan Africa is provided in Section 3 and on REDD+ characteristics and safeguards in Section 4. Section 5 presents evidence for likely REDD+ effects on livelihood outcome variables in terms of expected interactions of REDD+ with specified independent contextual variables. Appendix 2 provides an overview of research methods for studying these REDD+ impacts to assist with future efforts to expand this data.

Forest Management in Africa: Context and Trends

The context in which REDD+ is implemented includes factors like current and historic trends in forest policy and land tenure, corruption, power, and recognition of rights. This context affects how REDD+ will be implemented and the effects of REDD+ on local people, both in terms of potential benefits and the distribution of costs and benefits (Agrawal and Angelsen 2009; Gomera *et al.* 2010). To situate the subsequent discussion on potential REDD+ impacts in the African context, this section describes trends in forest governance and management in Sub-Saharan Africa, drawing primarily on texts by Wily (2011) and German *et al.* (2010a). We focus on trends seen in varying degrees in most countries in Africa, while acknowledging the wide variation on the continent in both historical and geographical contexts, and the effect this has on forest governance and the variability of outcomes of policy decisions and management activities.

The Colonial Legacy of Diminished Community Control Over Forests

Although colonial regimes operated differently in different countries in Africa, starting in the 1880s, colonialists in most of Africa shifted the rights of rural people to uncultivated lands like forests from ownership to rights of occupation and use and centralized control over land, taking rights away from local people (Wily 2011).² Communities faced many challenges in accessing customary lands, including the need to prove active use to gain occupancy rights, and the designation of the control of the contr

nation of native reserves (Wily 2011). The most productive lands were usually given to non-Africans, and ownership of most forests was designated to colonial powers (Wily 2011). By 1945, even rights to use were not being widely upheld (Wily 2011). As African countries became independent in the mid twentieth century, the elite classes that took over leadership tended to continue decreasing local control of forests (Wily 2011).

Governance Reforms and Community Participation in Forest Management

In the 1980s and 1990s, trends towards land reform and decentralization of forest managements began in much of Africa, largely due to pressure from the International Monetary Fund and the World Bank to reduce the size of centralized governments and budget deficits in African countries (German et al. 2010a; Wily 2011). Reforms in land and forest governance happen in different ways and to different extents in each country, and different contexts mean that the same reforms can have different outcomes in different places (German et al. 2010a). In general, the effects of land reforms included making land rights a subject for constitutional discussion, removing barriers to the sale of customary and untitled land, allowing foreigners to gain access to land, allowing customary rights to influence decision-making and property rights in limited ways, supporting women's land rights, increasing public participation in land policy making, decentralizing land administration (although not always to communities), increasing certification of customary rights (although not usually making them as strong legally asprivate property rights), and increasing community ownership possibilities (Wily 2011). Theoretically, decentralization of forest management should have increased opportunities for community level participation in day-to-day governance of forests. In most African countries, decentralization has only been partially implemented, with only partial sharing of power, authority and benefits from forests and with mixed positive and negative impacts on forest people (German et al. 2010a).

Reforms have resulted in a trend towards greater community involvement in forest management in Africa, and have tended to result in improved sharing of benefits from forests between different levels of government and between government and communities, and in some community investment of forest rev-

enues in local infrastructure and service improvements (German *et al.* 2010a). Gambia and Tanzania are thought to represent the most successful cases of community forest management, and ownership (Wily 2011). Many barriers to equitable sharing of forest benefits with communities persist, including extensive administration requirements, high transaction costs, and a tendency to give communities control of low value land while maintaining state control of high value land (German *et al.* 2010a). Common barriers to effective community forest management (CFM) in Africa include a lack of information needed for management, lack of awareness and information about the economic value of forests, conflict between central and local governments, widespread corruption, illegal logging and trade in forest products, lack of resources and information at the local level, lack of awareness of laws and rights that pertain to forest people, communication gaps, and lack of accountability (German *et al.* 2010a).

Although customary tenure is the major tenure regime in Africa, involving an estimated 428 million people, statutory tenure rights take precedence over the majority of uncultivated land in Africa, including forests (Wily 2011). With the exception of Uganda where the majority of forestland is privately owned (Vatn *et al.* 2009), most forests in Africa (98%) are state-owned (Wily 2011). Less than five million hectares are formally recognized as community property (Wily 2011). Customary tenure to community lands is rarely binding outside the community and statutory rights generally trump customary rights in national laws (Wily 2011). Sustomary access is often prohibited, or only allowed until forests can be put to commercial use (Wily 2011).

Recent attempts to restore rights to forest people have been limited and unclear forest tenure persists (Sunderlin *et al.* 2009). Although customary rights are increasingly gaining formal recognition, in some countries, customary rights must be registered and recognized as statutory rights, converting these rights to something other than how they were understood customarily (Wily 2011). Where statutory laws are in conflict with customary laws and practices, high transaction costs associated with compliance with state forest management laws can make customary forest uses illegal and can have detrimental effects on forest people (German *et al.* 2010a). In most of Sub-Saharan Africa, forests officially remain state-owned, with communities having only rights of occupancy and use, insecure tenure that leaves many forest people vulnerable to losing rights to the government or elite private interests (Sunderlin *et al.* 2008b; Wily 2011).

It appears this is not poised to change in the near future in most countries. In a survey of national land laws, about 25 per cent emerged as being positive with respect to customary land tenure (Wily 2011). It is expected that unreserved forests will be acknowledged as community property only in Benin, Burkina Faso, Ghana, Mozambique, South Africa, South Sudan, Tanzania and Uganda, with Uganda, Tanzania, Burkina Faso and Southern Sudan having the most positive national land laws with respect to recognizing customary tenure of forestland (Wily 2011). In other countries, it is thought that communities may gain more rights in managing forests, but are unlikely to gain formal ownership (Wily 2011).

Overall, decentralization has fallen short of expectations in terms of delivering equitable and sustainable outcomes, largely because it gave increased responsibility to the local level without also devolving the necessary power and resources to support effective management (German *et al.* 2010a).

Increasing International Interest in Africa's Forests

There has also been a recent trend towards increasing foreign interest in and acquisition and trade of land and resources in Africa (German *et al.* 2010a; Wily 2011). Exports and investment in African resources is increasing; for example, China offers African countries direct access to funds in exchange for guaranteed access to resources (German *et al.* 2010a). Markets are driving privatization of forests, with the most common form involving the awarding of logging and management concessions to private companies, a practice with roots in Africa's colonial history (German *et al.* 2010a; Wily 2011). These pressures are contributing to a trend in Eastern and Southern Africa towards recentralization of authority over natural resources and reduced local control of forest resources (Nelson 2010; Sanbrook *et al.* 2010).

Environmental motivations have also been driving foreign interest in Africa's forests, first for forest conservation, and then more recently for climate change mitigation and the generation of forest carbon credits. In the 1980s and 1990s, international conservation interests began leading to the creation of protected areas (PA), many in the form of integrated conservation and development projects (ICDPs) (Newmark and Hough 2000). Carbon forestry projects have been started in Africa to generate carbon credits for international compliance and

voluntary carbon markets⁴ (Diaz *et al.* 2011; Hamilton *et al.* 2010). Although Africa's initial share of the international carbon trade is small, the continent has been capturing an increasing share of the global forest carbon market, and was the dominant source of forest carbon credits in 2009 (Hamilton *et al.* 2010).

Foreign interest and investment in Africa's forests has not widely benefited forest people. The most valuable land is often given to investors, while local people are evicted from common lands (Wily 2011). The creation of protected areas by governments and conservation NGOs has resulted in evictions and restricted access of local people to forests. For example, in DRC and Cameroon, the government has created and expanded forest reserves and excluded local people without their consultation or any compensation for lost economic activities that were previously conducted in the reserve area (Dkamela et al. 2009). Even where decisionmaking surrounding state-owned resources like forests is devolved to the local level, powerful actors still often gain control (German et al. 2010a). In the case of carbon trade, high initial investment and expertise requirements and the need for clear property rights can make it difficult for decentralized governments and forest people to participate in carbon trade, particularly through the Clean Development Mechanism (CDM) (German et al. 2010a). State desire to take advantage of investor interest is impeding good, transparent governance practices, community participation in allocation decisions, the likelihood of legal strengthening of customary ownership rights, the application of international human rights laws, and threatening peace (Wily 2011). Increased trade is putting considerable pressure on Africa's forests; for example, in Tanzania, illegal logging and trade represents up to 96 per cent of harvest volume (German et al. 2010a), which could be problematic for people who rely on forests for their livelihoods.

As the value of Africa's land increases, land ownership is becoming concentrated and class formation is rising (Wily 2011). There is concern that foreign interest in forests could contribute to the recentralization of forest management in Africa, and further marginalize forest people from forest resources (German *et al.* 2010a). Without formal land rights, forest people are ill-equipped to defend their customary rights to forests and forest resources (Wily 2011). At the same time, increased international trade in African forest products and participation of Africa in international environmental negotiations are also raising standards and scrutiny with respect to the actions of state and corporate actors, and increasing pressure for transparency and government reform (German

et al. 2010a). Although African governments have generally been reluctant to respond to international pressure, it is generally resulting in increasing alignment of norms and standards in Africa with international norms and standards (German et al. 2010a).

Current Outlook

Although many of the trends in land and forest management in Africa are similar to other developing regions of the world, Africa likely faces greater challenges related to extensive poverty, fragile states, vulnerability to violent conflict, weak state institutions, and a lack of information and capacity (German *et al.* 2010a). Nevertheless, Africa has considerable capacity, particularly at the local level, and recent multi-tiered transnational civil society movement around forest-related issues is generating new ideas and innovation in forest governance, resulting in increased participation of forest peoples and increased attention on forest peoples' rights and forest management (German *et al.* 2010a). In general, the effectiveness of governance (German *et al.* 2010a). The impacts of forest management and governance trends on forest people will be closely linked to how community ownership over forests and forest resources is resolved (Wily 2011).

Introducing REDD+

Since first support for the idea in Bali, REDD+ has undergone continual development into an increasingly defined, implementable approach to climate change mitigation. Currently, REDD+ includes forestry activities that (UNFCCC 2010, Decision 1/CP.16.Add.1):

- (a) Reduce emissions from deforestation;
- (b) Reduce emissions from forest degradation;
- (c) Conserve forest carbon stocks;
- (d) Contribute to sustainable management of forests;
- (e) Enhance forest carbon stocks.

To participate in REDD+, countries are requested to (UNFCCC 2010, Decision 1/CP.16.Add.1):

- (a) Develop a national strategy or action plan;
- (b) Establish a national forest reference emission level;
- (c) Establish a robust and transparent national forest monitoring system;
- (d) Establish a system for reporting on how social and environmental safeguards are being addressed and respected.

The agreement of multiple nations on a set of guiding ideas and social and environmental safeguards in Cancun in 2010 represents a significant step in the development of REDD+. We highlight some of these guiding ideas and safeguards here; a complete list can be found in Appendix I of Decision 1/CP.16.Add.1.

The Cancun decision acknowledged that REDD+ should:

- Be country-driven;
- Be undertaken in accordance with national development priorities, objectives and circumstances and capabilities and should respect sovereignty;
- Be consistent with Parties' national sustainable development needs and goals;
- Be implemented in the context of sustainable development and reducing poverty;
- Be supported by adequate and predictable financial and technology support, including support for capacity building;
- Be results based;
- Promote sustainable management of forests.

Safeguards that should be 'promoted and supported' in REDD+ include:

- Ensuring actions complement or are consistent with the objectives of national forest programmes and relevant international conventions and agreements;
- Transparent and effective national forest governance structures, taking into account national legislation and sovereignty;
- Respect for the knowledge and rights of indigenous peoples and members of local communities, by taking into account relevant international obligations, national circumstances and laws;
- The full and effective participation of relevant stakeholders, in particular indigenous people and local communities;
- Ensuring actions are not used for the conversion of natural forests, but instead to incentivize the protection and conservation of natural forests and their ecosystem services, and to enhance other social and environmental benefits.

At the 17th Conference of Parties in Durban in 2011, it was agreed that information on how all safeguards are being addressed and respected should be made available, and be accessible to all stakeholders for REDD+ implementations (UNFCCC Draft decision -/CP.17).

Different Countries, Different Implementations of REDD+

REDD+ implementation will be unified by the steps and guidelines provided by the ongoing COP negotiations. These steps and guidelines will be implemented differently in different countries, in part reflecting differences in context, such as land tenure systems, drivers of deforestation, and governance (Sills *et al.* 2009). In many cases, REDD+ will be implemented based on existing forest management approaches (Vatn *et al.* 2009). It will involve both policy and project level actions. Choices about how to implementREDD+ will often involve trade-offs between political legitimacy, efficiency, accountability, transparency and co-benefits, which will have implications for local people (Agrawal and Angelsen 2009; Peskett *et al.* 2008; Seymour and Angelsen 2009).

Several aspects of REDD+ implementation are expected to have important implications for how REDD+ affects forest people:

Reference levels or baselines against which changes in forests are measured will affect which forests and activities will be eligible, and thus, what forest people may be eligible to receive REDD+ benefits (Brown *et al.* 2008; Peskett *et al.* 2008).

Financing mechanism – A market mechanism could provide more funds and better links between payments and performance, while donor funding could be more pro-poor and accessible to less developed countries (Brown *et al.* 2008; Peskett *et al.* 2008).

The scope of activities that are included under REDD+ and the definition of forest used will influence who can participate and how local communities are impacted by REDD+ activities. For example, certain definitions of forest may exclude activities from REDD+, such as agroforestry, that could have pro-poor benefits (Brown *et al.* 2008; Peskett *et al.* 2008).

Risk and liability – The level at which risk is borne could affect how costs and benefits associated with REDD+ implementation are shared; for example, if the national government bears all risk, it is less likely that REDD+

resources will be shared with forest communities (Brown *et al.* 2008; Peskett *et al.* 2008).

Scaleof implementation – National level implementation offers the possibility of a more integrated intervention, but increases the scope for problems like corruption. A project-level focus could have less ability to affect country policy and is prone to leakage (Brown *et al.* 2008; Peskett *et al.* 2008).

Evaluation and monitoring – Including local people in monitoring is seen as one way to keep costs down while contributing to local livelihood and environment benefits (Danielsen *et al.* 2011; Skutsch and Ba 2010). The criteria used for monitoring will in part determine the extent to which local development and environment impacts are successfully considered in REDD+ implementation and evaluation.

How is REDD+ Different from Other Types of Forest Management and Carbon Forestry?

Because REDD+ will be different in every country and will build on existing forest structures and be adapted to local contexts (Tacconi *et al.* 2010), it is difficult to specify in detail how REDD+will be implemented and how it will differ from other forest management activities. A suite of broad differences is however apparent:

National-level approach – Although it is acknowledged that links will need to be made between national level plans and sub-national projects and initiatives, most proposals for REDD+support a national-level approach to forest management that allows for country-level monitoring and planning (Irawan and Tacconi 2009; Tacconi *et al.* 2010).

Large-scale – REDD+ is also much larger than any previous forest development initiative (Angelsen 2009).

Social and environmental safeguards – REDD+'s social and environmental safeguards and guidelines have been broadly agreed to and refer to international standards and norms (UNFCCC 2010, Decision 1/CP.16.Add.1).

Performance-based – Unlike many conventional initiatives, REDD+ is performance-based, and includes a requirement to verify both environmental and social outcomes, and is being closely scrutinized by many organizations and individuals (Angelsen 2009).

These differences mean that REDD+, if implemented well, could offer improvements over the *status quo* in many countries. These include opportunities, incentives and resources to:

- Access significant new sources of funding from carbon for realizing environmental and biodiversity conservation as well as development goals (Brown et al. 2008; Rosendal and Andresen 2011).
- Align forest management in many countries with international norms and safeguards, such as the principle of 'free, prior and informed consent' (FPIC) with respect to affected communities (Brown et al. 2008).
- Increase international attention to and monitoring of forest management, international safeguards, and the rights of local communities (Brown et al. 2008).
- Address corruption, support government reform and improve structures and processes supporting resource governance (Brown *et al.* 2008; Ebeling and Yasué 2008; Vatn *et al.* 2009); e.g. in Tanzania, REDD+ resources could put pressure on government to strengthen anti-corruption and positive forest governance policies (Vatn *et al.* 2009).
- Assist in decentralizing some resources and responsibility to forest people for forest management and improve the involvement of forest people in forest governance (Accra Caucus 2010; Odgaard and Maganga 2009).
- Improve sustainability of forest management practices, particularly in countries like Burkina Faso that do not currently have the resources or capacity to monitor and manage forests effectively (Westholm 2010).
- Address some of the larger scale drivers of deforestation (Campbell et al. 2008).
- Increase the value of forest conservation and protection as a land-use alternative, and potentially make it economically viable for forest communities to manage forests and continue traditional uses (Campbell *et al.* 2008; Van Dam 2011).

- Reduce control of forests by commercial interests and increase control of forests by governments and local communities (Westholm 2010).
- Secure and formalize land tenure and resource rights for local communities (Campbell et al. 2008; Lawlor and Huberman 2009; Vatn et al. 2009).
- Better integrate national and local project-level approaches to forest management; e.g. it is thought that Participatory Forest Management (PFM)⁵ would benefit from greater standardization, harmonization and quality control in Tanzania (Blomley and Ramadhani 2006), which a national-level REDD+ plan could help to put in place.
- Increase transparency, accountability, and communication between forest stakeholders by making REDD+ payments contingent on performance (Brown et al. 2008).
- Improve forest benefit sharing arrangements (Lindhjem *et al.* 2010).
- Provide more stable, regular and sustained income sources for the forestdependent poor (Peskett et al. 2008).

Given the early stage of REDD+ implementation, most authors are still speculative about the potential of REDD+ for both benefits and risks to forest people. The following section examines what REDD+ could mean for key challenges in managing forests to benefit forest people in Africa, in terms of participation in REDD+ governance and access and distribution of REDD+ and forest resources.

Implications of REDD+ for Forest People

This section presents the results of this review of the literature in terms of key areas that are central to the consideration of REDD+ impacts on forest people and will need to be considered with respect to the impacts of REDD+ activities on forest people. The findings are summarized in Table 2, and then discussed in more detail in the following sub-sections.

Policy and Governance

Governance structures and forest management policies affect who is able to participate in decision-making with respect to forests and REDD+, and who is able to capture benefits from forests, including REDD+. Policy and governance generally have particularly important implications for the ability of forest people to participate in REDD+ governance. Governance is of particular concern in much of Africa, where weak institutional structures have restricted the implementation of other (market-based) carbon schemes (Vatn *et al.* 2009), and where conflict is more common in forested areas (De Koning *et al.* 2007). In particular, it is thought that outcomes from REDD+ for both carbon storage and local livelihoods and the ability of the poor to participate in REDD+ design and implementation will depend on the existence and quality of structures to devolve funds and control and ownership of forest management to the community level (Chhatre and Agrawal 2009; Peskett *et al.* 2008; Sanbrook *et al.* 2010).

Table 2. Summary of Potential Effects of REDD+ on Contextual (independent) Variables with Respect to Outcomes for Forest People

Contextual Variable	Potential Negative Effects	Potential Positive Effect	Suggested Actions
Policy and governance	Because it focuses on national-level planning, REDD+ could contribute to recentralization of forest governance in a way that excludes local communities from meaningful participation in decisionmaking about forest resources, including participation in REDD+ governance. Lack of harmony in national natural resource policies could prevent forest people from benefiting from improved forest resources under REDD+.	REDD+ resources coupled with international scrutiny and social and environmental safeguards could provide incentives and resources to support effective decentralization to increase local participation in forest governance and improve the sharing of forest benefits with forest people.	Harmonize natural resource management policies to maximize benefits of REDD+- managed forests to forest people. Couple decentralization with strong local level institutions to ensure it results in opportunities for forest people to meaningfully participate in REDD+ governance and benefit from REDD+.

Contextual Variable	Potential Negative Effects	Potential Positive Effect	Suggested Actions
Rights and ownership over forest resources	An increase in forest value, privatization and centralized control of forest resources under REDD+ could increase exclusion and disincentivize formal recognition of customary land and resource rights. REDD+ could continue trends of exclusion of forest people from carbon markets and forests, and majority capture of carbon benefits by large-scalelandowners.	REDD+ resources and safeguards could promote the signing of forest management agreements with communities and clarification of tenure and resource rights, improving the security of forest peoples' access to forest resources, including REDD+ benefits.	Design REDD+ to maintain access to forests by forest people. Use REDD+ as an opportunity to address tenure challenges, and clarify and formalize resource rights. Take advantage of international relationships and attentionfrom REDD+ to support and strengthen the ability of forest people to enforce their rights.

Contextual Variable	Potential Negative Effects	Potential Positive Effect	Suggested Actions
Benefit-sharing and compensation	REDD+ could perpetuate a poor track record for inequitable sharing of forest benefits in many African countries, particularly if the centralized approach of REDD+ concentrates REDD+ resources at the national level. Appropriate compensation for costs of REDD+ to forest people may be difficult if the full impacts of REDD+ on forest people are not understood, or carbon prices are inadequate to compensate foregone opportunities.	REDD+ resources and safeguards could help to improve forest benefit sharing, including REDD+ benefits.	Ensure forest people participate in REDD+ processes to make benefit sharing acceptable to all stakeholders. Use REDD+ to support governance reforms that improve sharing of forest and REDD+ resources. Combine REDD+ with other forest management goals (e.g. biodiversity protection) to facilitate adequate compensation to forest people.

Contextual Variable	Potential Negative Effects	Potential Positive Effect	Suggested Actions
Intermediaries, corruption and elite capture of benefits	The national level focus of REDD+ will increase the number of intermediaries involved, which could exacerbate the potential for poor intermediariesand reduced participation of forest people in REDD+ governance. Widespread corruption in African institutions and evidence of elite capture of benefits in many forest management regimes in Africa suggest that REDD+ will not avoid elite capture of REDD+ and forest benefits without governance reforms. Increased international scrutiny in REDD+ could disincentivize the participation in REDD+ of countries where national elites currently capture the majority of resource exploitation benefits, which would prevent forest people from accessing REDD+ resources. REDD+ could perpetuate local level inequity in forest benefit capture.	REDD+ safeguards for transparent and effective national forest governance structures, and requirements to be results-based and respect forest peoples rights and international agreementsshould help to ensure good quality intermediaries, and may help REDD+ to support governance reforms that reduce corruption and improve the equity of benefit sharing from REDD+ and REDD+ and REDD+ and	Use REDD+ to support government reforms, accountability and transparency. Support participation of forest people in REDD+ governance at all stages. Encourage partnerships and results-based REDD+ monitoring that includes evaluation of the distribution of REDD+ and forest resources under REDD+.

Contextual Variable	Potential Negative Effects	Potential Positive Effect	Suggested Actions
Wealth, resources and knowledge	Lack of capacity related to wealth and knowledge about REDD+ may limit the ability of some forest people, particularly the poor and marginalized, to participate in REDD+ governance and benefit from REDD+, especially where REDD+ restricts access to forest resources. Integration of monitoring of social impacts in REDD+ is lagging.	REDD+ safeguards regarding the rights and participation of forest people and respect for human rights could support the building of forest peoples' capacity to participate in REDD+ governance and the rights of the poor and marginalized to access REDD+ and forest benefits. Tools and procedures for monitoring REDD+ social impacts are appearing, which should help REDD+ to respect safeguards tobe resultsbased socially as well as environmentally, and avoid negative impacts on the poor and marginalized.	Design REDD+ to be accessible to all forest people, and/or provide appropriate compensation to those who are being negatively impacted. Implement social impact monitoring programs in all REDD+ initiatives to ensure equity in access to benefits and opportunities to participate in REDD+ governance for all subgroups of forest people.

Contextual Variable	Potential Negative Effects	Potential Positive Effect	Suggested Actions
Approaches to REDD+ implementation	The definition of forests and eligible activities under REDD+ may restrict the ability of some forest people to access REDD+ benefits, and could favour private concessions. Some approaches to REDD+ implementation can restrict the flow of REDD+ and forest benefits to certain forest people. If REDD+ is not designed to be pro-poor adverse effects may disproportionately affect the poor and marginalized,	REDD+ safeguards regarding the rights and participation of forest people in REDD+ design and the need for REDD+ not to contribute to forest conversion could help to avoid potential negative effects of REDD+ implementation on access to REDD+ and forest resources.	Involve all stakeholders, including all groups of forest people, in designing REDD+ implementation such that approaches are chosen that shareREDD+ and forest resources in a manner deemed acceptable to all. Improve equity in local distribution of benefits by taking a pro-poor approach and applying lessons from carbon, conservation and community forestry schemes for improving equity in benefit distribution at the local level, e.g. combining individual and community level payments and maintaining forest access.

Alignment of Natural Resource Management Policies

There is hope that REDD+, like some PES projects, could improve local environments (Corbera 2010; German *et al.* 2010b; Tacconi *et al.* 2010; Westholm 2010), which could in turn improve the quality and quantity of forest services available to forest people. In both Mexico and Uganda, PES programs have been associated with local environmental improvements (Corbera 2010; German *et al.* 2010b). CFM has been found to improve or maintain forest quality in Tanzania (Blomley and Ramadhani 2006). It is expected that REDD+ will have positive effects on forest services like hydrological and soil conservation services, and on biodiversity (Brown *et al.* 2008). Ona broad scale, it is thought that REDD+ could help to reduce regional environmental costs and conflicts from deforestation (Ghazoul *et al.* 2010).

The ability of local people to benefit from improved forest services will depend in part on the national policy context with respect to resource use. For example, although wildlife populations have increased in Tanzania due to PFM, divergent resource policies tending towards decentralized control of forests and centralized control of wildlife means that forest people are largely unable to benefit from these increases (Blomley and Ramadhani 2006; Mwakalobo *et al.* 2011). Thus, if forest people are to realize maximum benefits from REDD+, it will be important to harmonize national resource management laws (Blomley and Ramadhani 2006).

Participation in International REDD+ Governance

Policy and governance can affect the ability of forest people to participate in international conversations about how REDD+ is implemented. Stakeholder participation in climate negotiations is increasing, mostly through informal opportunities like dissemination of information and exchanges of ideas in side events (Schroeder 2010). Although initially under-represented, indigenous and forest people have been by-passing national channels by organizing with each other internationally and finding avenues to participate in the REDD+ process indirectly (Schroeder 2010), including through the Accra Caucus, a civil society organization that speaks to REDD+ policy and rights on behalf of forest people (Muchuba 2009).

Decentralization and Participation in REDD+ Governance

Participation in REDD+ governance will be important to ensure that forest peoples' rights are respected and that they are able to benefit from REDD+ and REDD+-managed forests in ways they deem to be fair and acceptable. Effective local participation in governance has been difficult to implement in practice in other forest management approaches, like ICDPs (Brandon and Wells 2009). Generally, experience with community-based natural resource management suggests that forest people in Africa may often be limited in their ability to influence decision-making beyond the local level (Nelson 2010). Negative effects on forest people are more likely where institutional capacity is lacking or if benefit sharing and tenure issues are not addressed (Campbell *et al.* 2008; Jindal 2010). In Cameroon, where links between government institutions, between different levels of government, and between government and communities are weak (Brown *et al.* 2010), communities have been limited in their ability to participate in and benefit from carbon schemes due in part to a lack of government support at the local level (Minang *et al.* 2007).

Opportunities to participate in REDD+ governance will depend considerably on the governance and policy context in individual countries. Democratic decentralization will likely play an important role in determining forest peoples' ability to participate in REDD+ and REDD+ governance, and thus their ability to benefit. Decentralization of forest governance and the devolution of decisions to representative, effective local governments could provide forest people with meaningful opportunities to participate in decision-making in the REDD+ process, and will likely be necessary to some extent for the success of REDD+ (Larson and Ribot 2009; Sikor et al. 2010). Programs like REDD+ that give resources to centralized actors and increase the value of forests are not likely to incentivize the required structural and governance transformations needed for decentralization of natural resource management (Nelson 2010; Sanbrook et al. 2010). If REDD+ follows patterns of previous forest management arrangements and REDD+-like activities, the ability of forest people to influence centralized REDD+ planning and implementation in Africa may be limited. However, the tendency of REDD+ towards recentralization may be balanced by the fact that REDD+ also entrenches support for the inclusion of forest people and their interests in the REDD+ process. The REDD+ Advance Negotiating Text is considered 'ground-breaking' for including references to the rights of indigenous and local peoples (Lyster 2011). Consideration of forest people is also entrenched at the level of donors. For example, the FCPF allocates funds specifically for community outreach and consultation and requires REDD+ Project Information Notes (R-PINS) to include information about indigenous people (Sena 2009).

Experience from CFM also highlights how decentralization does not automatically improve forest peoples' participation in forest governance. In Cameroon, decentralization actually resulted in decreased involvement of forest people in forest management because lack of market access led communities to sell their rights to forest resources to logging companies (Westholm *et al.* 2009). As Lyster (2011) notes, for forest people to have meaningful opportunities to participate in REDD+ and REDD+ governance and share in REDD+ benefits, words and intentions must be translated into actions for effective implementation of REDD+, and forest people must not only be consulted, but have opportunities to give consent to REDD+ (Muchuba 2009).

Considerable criticism of the participation of forest people in early REDD+ governance suggests that intentions were not well translated into real participation in practice, at least initially. Early R-PINs and REDD+ planning did not include explicit acknowledgement of human rights issues and standards, or any indication of how to address existing issues with resource rights and governance prior to implementing REDD+ (Dooley et al. 2008; Griffiths 2008). The Accra Caucus (2010), an international organization representing indigenous people, believes there has been inadequate participation of civil society in the REDD+ process, and that REDD+ has been primarily driven by international organizations and market actors rather than forest people. Of 14 African R-PINS in 2009, none included information on indigenous peoples, and none had involved indigenous consultations (Sena 2009). As of late 2009, forest people were only involved in one demonstration activity and no readiness activities globally (Cerbu et al. 2011). In Tanzania, indigenous peoples have been included only in the final approval process for the country's national REDD+ agreement (Laltaika 2009). It is unclear whether this late involvement adequately represented the concerns of indigenous people (Odgaard and Maganga 2009). In the case of the FCPF REDD+ program, it has been suggested that FCPF's own social commitments and requirements for consultation with forest people were not being met, in part because the process was rushed, implicitly market oriented, and dominated by the national government (Dooley *et al.* 2008; Griffiths 2008). In Madagascar and Tanzania, the focus of REDD+ activities has been on the technical carbon accounting side, with little attention paid to how to incorporate community participation into the process and how to distribute benefits fairly (Springate-Baginski and Wollenberg 2010). This could be in part because environmental and conservation organizations, rather than development organizations, dominate those organizations involved in most REDD+ activities (Cerbu *et al.* 2011).

However, in some countries it may still be too early to judge the quality of REDD+ planning and consultations (Bosquet 2011; Hoyle 2011), and in general, the participation of forest people in REDD+ governance appears to be improving. In some cases, REDD+ may be providing resources and the impetus to improve local capacity and support the decentralization of some forest control, as evidenced by the fact that decentralization and capacity building are both included in Tanzania's REDD+ plan (Burgess et al. 2010). International donors are also making efforts to facilitate the involvement of forest people. For example, in 2010, the UN-REDD+ programme conducted trainings and workshops all over DRC and chose seven REDD+ projects to implement based on public consultations, worked with the FCPF to develop a common set of Guidelines on Engagement of Indigenous People and Other Forest Dependent Communities, developed a set of social and environmental principles to allow assessment of local risks from REDD+, developed an approach for national participatory governance assessments of REDD+, and set up a fund to support the participation of indigenous and civil society representatives in the program's governance (UN-REDD Programme 2011). At the country level, tentative optimism has been expressed about the participation of forest people in the REDD+ process in DRC. This stems from the country's Working Group on REDD+, which involves civil society and indigenous people in giving feedback on the REDD+ process, and the National Committee, an organization involved in planning, implementation, follow-up, and the distribution of benefits from REDD+ on which civil society has been allocated five of 14 spots (including two for indigenous peoples) (Muchuba 2009). Conversely, otherscaution that these efforts in the DRC could be more symbolic than meaningful (Accra Caucus 2010), andit has been argued that the ability of forest people to effectively and directly participate in REDD+ to ensure that their views and concerns are reflected in how REDD+ is implemented remains limited (Schroeder 2010).

In practice, successful implementation of REDD+ will likely require a combination of decentralized and centralized forest governance approaches to be effective (Larson and Ribot 2009; Nelson 2010; Phelps *et al.* 2010), which in most cases, REDD+will require significant reforms of forest governance structures involving stakeholders at local through national scales (Hansen *et al.* 2009; Sikor *et al.* 2010).

Quality of Opportunities to Participate in REDD+ Governance

The ability of forest people to take advantage of opportunities, in part via decentralization and governance reform, and meaningfully participate in REDD+ and REDD+ governance will depend in part on the quality of the opportunities presented. Donor-supported participation of forest people in meetings could make representative participation more difficult if forest people find it difficult to express opinions at odds with those of the donor (Sena 2009). It will also be important for people to have sufficient capacity to take advantage of opportunities. In DRC, there was insufficient time for local people to provide feedback on a REDD+ document, and the document was not translated into the local language (Accra Caucus 2010). At the local level in Tanzania, pastoralists and other vulnerable groups have often been excluded from village decision-making about what areas of common land to reserve for PFM because they were not informed about meetings (Odgaard and Maganga 2009). Even if communities are invited to meetings in which REDD+ decisions will be made, if the meetings are far away or people are not given enough notice, local people may still be unable to participate (Accra Caucus 2010). Thus, opportunities for forest people to participate in REDD+ governance must be both accessible and allow them to substantively influence the REDD+ process.

Broadly, Angelsen (2009) concludes that there is a need in each country for a process to resolve conflicts and decide how to implement REDD+ in a manner that effectively includes and is considered legitimate by all stakeholders. In many cases, acceptable REDD+ implementation will require progressive reform in both forest tenure and governance (Griffiths 2008), and transformative national scale policy and institutional changes (Angelsen 2009). Given that the REDD+ safeguards agreed to in Cancun (UNFCCC 2010, Decision 1/CP.16.Add.1) include the need for 'transparent and effective national governance structures',

respect for the knowledge and rights of forest people, 'full and effective participation of relevant stakeholders', and consistency with international conventions, agreements and obligations, it is possible that REDD+ could provide additional incentives and resources to implement the needed governance reforms to continue to improve the participation of forest people in REDD+ governance and in forest governance more broadly, which could improve their ability to benefit from REDD+ and REDD+-managed forests.

In short, REDD+ has two big challenges: 1) To ensure that its inherent tendency towards centralization is adequately counter-balanced by the safeguards intended to ensure equitable outcomes; and 2) to directly and indirectly create the conditions necessary for effective participation by both increasing capacity at the local level while changing the underlying governance structures and institutional conditions (e.g. land tenure). Decentralization will likely be important to provide opportunities for forest people to benefit from REDD+; however, to allow people to take advantage of these opportunities, decentralization will have to be accompanied by strong structures at the local level to include those that are often marginalized. Therefore, while incentives for decentralization and consideration for local governance and rights will need to be incorporated into REDD+ schemes (Phelps et al. 2010; Sandbrook et al. 2010), REDD+ also will require adequate checks and balances at all levels of implementation to ensure that governance is representative and that human rights and procedural and distributional equity are respected and comply with standards for forest management and rights set at the national level (Larson and Ribot 2009).

Rights and Ownership Over Forest Lands and Resources

The establishment of rights to forests and forest resources is a key issue in determining how and whether forest people will benefit from REDD+ and from forests managed under REDD+, and how benefits will be distributed (Nelson 2010). In many places, rights to forests have not been legitimized (Angelsen 2009). As is evident from Section 3, in much of Africa, land is managed with a combination of overlapping customary rights and legal tenure (Accra Caucus 2010). This complexity makes land tenure both a key issue and a central challenge in the implementation of REDD+ (Burgess *et al.* 2010). It is speculated

that REDD+ could either exacerbate existing rights infringements, or help to resolve rights issues, depending on how it is implemented (Accra Caucus 2010; Angelsen 2009).

Access to Forests and Participation in Forest Management

Experience from carbon forestry and conservation forestry have raised concern that REDD+ could restrict access to forests for forest people and decrease their ownership and rights to forest resources. If REDD+ restricts access to forests and forest resources, it could have negative impacts on livelihoods and culture in forest communities (Blom et al. 2010; Odgaard and Maganga 2009; Shepherd 2004 in Blom et al. 2010; Brown et al. 2010). Carbon and other PES schemes demonstrate how unclear property rights can lead to conflict over benefits (Springate-Baginski and Wollenberg 2010), and can provide opportunities for more powerful actors to take control of resources (Jindal et al. 2008) and restrict access to forests (Lindhjem et al. 2010). For example in Uganda, local people who relied on a forest reserve for farming and resources were excluded when concessions were given to a foreign company for commercial generation of forest carbon credits (Jindal et al. 2008). ICDPs, forest protected areas, and forest carbon projects can restrict access to forests and forest resources, and change local power structures (Campbell et al. 2008; Jindal et al. 2008; Lindhjem et al. 2010). In Cameroon, many indigenous communities are hesitant about REDD+ because recent forest management regimes have decreased their lands and excluded them from forest revenues (Westholm et al. 2009). Early REDD activities suggest that these concerns may be well-founded: early activities have aggravated conflicts over land and resource rights between governments and forest people in Indonesia (Van Noordwijk et al. 2011), and restricted all harvesting in a forest reserve in Mozambique (Jindal 2010).

Without attention to land and resource rights and clarification of forest tenure, REDD+ could easily contribute to the 'scramble for Africa' (Gomera et al. 2010; Sunderlin et al. 2009). By increasing the value of forestland, REDD+ could promote a reversal of recentmovement towards decentralization of forest governance in many African countries, and reduce access and control over forestlands by forest people by prompting African governments to renege on community forest management arrangements or increase enforcement of exist-

ing restrictions to commonlands, and/or by leading private commercial investors and environmental NGOs to buy up large tracts of forestland and exclude local communities (Accra Caucus 2010; Brown et al. 2008; Dkamela et al. 2009; Griffiths 2008; Lawlor and Huberman 2009; Nelson 2010; Odgaard and Maganga 2009; Peskett et al. 2008; Phelps et al. 2010; Sena 2009; Vatn et al. 2009). The potential for carbon income has slowed the recognition of community rights to forests, particularly in the Congo Basin and in some West African countries (Wily 2011). Centralized resource management structures and unclear tenure situations in much of Africa contribute to concern that formal state ownership and control will take priority over customary and informal rights, particularly in countries where customary land-use rights are not recognized and the government owns forests and controls access to resources (Accra Caucus 2010; Brown et al. 2010; Sunderlin et al. 2009). Where there are multiple and overlapping claims to forests, it is expected that less powerful claimants, like forest people, will lose out (Sunderlin et al. 2009). In the DRC where there are no land-use or zoning plans, forest people are concerned that the government may zone their customary lands for REDD+ without their input (Dkamela et al. 2009). In Tanzania, where the president can declare any part of the country a reserve, it is thought that REDD+ could lead to expansion of state-owned plantations and private forestry (Burgess et al. 2010). In Cameroon, land ownership can be formalized, but the process is expensive, allowing elites to buy up and privatize tracts of community land (Accra Caucus 2010). Additional earning potential from forests through REDD+ activities could further incentivize privatization and exclusion of forest people from forests while disincentivizing the devolution of forest management to forest people and making it less likely that forest people's customary rights to forestlands will be formally recognized.

However, it is not a given that REDD+ will have negative impacts on forest peoples' control of and access to forest resources. It is thought that REDD+ could facilitate the signing of forest management agreements with forest people in some cases (Van Noordwijk *et al.* 2011). In some situations, it may also be possible to design REDD+ to be compatible with many traditional forest uses, including hunting, gathering non-timber forest products, small scale agriculture, and many commercial activities (Van Dam 2011), such that forest people are able to maintain access to forest resources management under REDD+.

Access to Carbon Markets and Benefits

REDD+ will provide new opportunities for some forest people to participate directly in carbon markets through PES schemes, and/or new opportunities to benefit indirectly from carbon transactions, e.g. through community funds. Access to carbon benefits, including REDD+ benefits, by forest people depends on their access to land and resources and on their ability to exercise their rights (Corbera and Brown 2010). Complicated tenure in Africa can make it difficult for forest people to access carbon benefits. In Mali, changing seasonal land-uses involving multiple overlapping land-users and claims to land rights on communal land made a carbon sequestration project very difficult to implement in practice (Roncoli *et al.* 2007).

Many forest-dependent communities have been unable to benefit from forest management schemes, including carbon forestry, because they do not have legal ownership over forestlands, or because land and resource tenure is unclear (Boyd et al. 2007; Brown et al. 2008). This could also be an issue in REDD+ (Lawlor and Huberman 2009; Van Dam 2011). Where REDD+ creates a new commodity in the form of carbon, rights to this new commodity will need to be established (Peskett et al. 2008). This could be challenging, as multiple stakeholders may feel they have rights to forest carbon, including both legal forest owners as well as those involved in forest management like communities, governments, and organizations (Brandon and Wells 2009). In Africa, some governments are claiming that they have exclusive rights to carbon and carbon trade (Sena 2009). Lawlor and Huberman (2009) warn that local people may not be able to participate in carbon markets if rights to carbon are separated from rights to forests or forest management. At the local level, some community members may be betterable to access carbon markets than others. For example, community leaders are generally more likely to participate in workshops and courses that increase knowledge about climate change and carbon, increasing their capacity to participate in carbon markets (Corbera and Brown 2010). Based on a review of PES, CBNRM, and CDM research, Vatn et al. (2009) document many examples of exclusion of forest people in these schemes and conclude that a project-oriented implementation of REDD+ will likely favour people with secure tenure over larger amounts of land.

Ability to Enforce Rights

Even when rights to forests and carbon are established, forest peoples' ability to access and benefit from forest resources depends on their ability to enforce their rights and participate in forest management. In some countries like Tanzania, rights to forest resources are not the issue; people lack the ability to enforce their rights as a result of structural issues and poor governance (Nelson 2010). In Ghana, local people have forest land and resource rights; however, they have little actual control over what happens to forests (Hansen et al. 2009). Inability to enforce rights can reduce the ability of forest people to benefit from forest management, and can contribute to illegal logging, an issue in both Uganda and Tanzania (Blomley and Ramadhani 2006; Vatn et al. 2009). Because it can be difficult for communities to enforce tenure laws due to lack of education and capacity at the community level (Sena 2009), a supportive, proactive government will be essential in ensuring local rights, once established, are respected. Increasing community-level legal awareness will also be important in helping forest people to enforce their rights (Blomley and Ramadhani 2006). Civil society and community organizations have been mobilizing around the rights of forest people, and communities in Eastern and Southern Africa have shown considerable capacity to address challenges to their rights by working with national and global partners (Nelson 2010). The entrenched recognition of the rights of forest people and alignment with international standards in REDD+ safeguards may further help to support this process.

Resolving Tenure Challenges to Ensure Efficacy and Equity of REDD+

Unclear and disputed forest tenure, common in Africa, could limit the effectiveness and equity of REDD+ by limiting what policy options are available under REDD+ (e.g. PES may not be possible where tenure is insecure), and result in unequal sharing of benefits and conflict (Sunderlin *et al.* 2009), which could ultimately undermine both social and environmental outcomes from REDD+. Clarifying and securing rights to land and carbon and other forest services is expected to be key in ensuring forest people can benefit from REDD+ (Accra Caucus 2010; Van Dam 2011); however, despite broad recognition of the importance of clarifying tenure to REDD+ success, there has been little progress in this area (Sunderlin *et al.* 2009). This is likely in part due to the pervasiveness and complexity of tenure challenges in Africa, which will likely be difficult to resolve, particularly in a simple, universal way and in a time-scale that will be useful for climate change mitigation (Unruh 2008). Resolving tenure conflicts will be complicated by the fact that in much of Africa, and particularly in the Congo Basin and West Africa, a considerable amount of forestland will be under private, renewable concession for at least the next several decades (Wily 2011). Nevertheless, Tacconi *et al.* (2010) suggest that partial rights to forest resources and carbon could allow PES schemes to function in REDD+, and there is hope that REDD+ could provide the resources and motivation needed to implement the legal, institutional and policy mechanisms needed to secure and formalize forest tenure and resource rights for forest communities who have yet to have their claims to forests formally recognized (Campbell *et al.* 2008; Lawlor and Huberman 2009; Vatn *et al.* 2009).

Benefit-sharing and Compensation

Benefit-sharing and compensation determine who captures benefits from REDD+ and from REDD+-managed forests, as well as what types of benefits are available. REDD+ has the potential to drastically change how costs and benefits of forest management are distributed in Sub-Saharan Africa (Gomera et al. 2010). Equitable distribution of REDD+ benefits is necessary for REDD+ to respect the rights of forest peoples (Sikor et al. 2010), and will be important for legitimacy, effectiveness and efficiency in REDD+ implementation (Agrawal and Angelsen 2009; Blom et al. 2010; Oestreicher et al. 2009). In general, and in many African countries in particular, it is still unclear how REDD+ resources will be used and how benefits from REDD+ will be distributed (Odgaard and Maganga 2009; Sena 2009; Tacconi et al. 2010). Many different benefit sharing arrangements are possible in REDD+, including payments or resource investments at the individual, household or community level (potentially modelled on PES or ICDP projects), or wages paid for participation in conservation or monitoring activities (Lindhjem et al. 2010).

Because REDD+ payments will be made mainly to national governments (Ebeling and Yasué 2008), access to and distribution of REDD+ and forest resources at the local level will depend largely on how benefit sharing is designed,

and how well benefit sharing is implemented in practice. Implementing and monitoring equitable benefit sharing is expected to be a central challenge in putting REDD+ into practice (Burgess *et al.* 2010; Peskett *et al.* 2008). Without adequate consideration of the rights and livelihoods of local people, the costs of REDD+ could be unequally borne by forest people (Griffiths 2008). However, it is ultimately hoped that REDD+ can improve the sharing of forest resources between governments and forest people (Lindhjem *et al.* 2010). The ability of REDD+ to improve the sharing of forest benefits, including REDD+ benefits, will depend largely on how REDD+ affects benefit-sharing arrangements through forest governance structures. The ability of forest people to capture adequate benefit from REDD+ to ensure they do not bear a disproportionate share of costs from REDD+ implementation will be affected by how REDD+ compensation is determined.

Governance and Benefit Sharing

In Africa, past experience with benefit sharing in forest management has raised concern about the ability of governments to implement effective benefit sharing arrangements in REDD+. In DRC, the national forestry administration is hampered by limited funds and personnel (Dkamela et al. 2009) while in Ghana, despite the fact that local rights to forest revenues are recognized, the design of the benefit sharing scheme allows the central forestry administration to capture the majority of forest revenue and few benefits reach forest people (Hansen et al. 2009). In Tanzania, concerns about government deficiencies and indeterminate and vague benefit-sharing arrangements in PFM are raising concerns about benefit sharing in REDD+, which will be based on PFM (Burgess et al. 2010; Mwakalobo et al. 2011; Odgaard and Maganga 2009). In Cameroon, indigenous peoples continue to be concerned about accountability and embezzlement by local and national elites, despite the fact that the Annual Forest Royalties tax, the main benefit-sharing mechanism in forest management, explicitly includes a goal to contribute to local economic development (Accra Caucus 2010; Lindhjem et al. 2010). In one reserve under consideration for REDD+ in Uganda, forest people in CFM arrangements do not have sufficient capacity and accountability to effectively manage forests, while the national government is unable to enforce zoning for different levels of resource use in the reserve (Nabanoga et al. 2010).

Experience from other forest management activities demonstrates that benefit sharing is linked both to the quality of governance and the capacity of governments, and suggests that both may be lacking in some African countries.

REDD+ could contribute to improving benefit sharing if hopes are realized that REDD+ can increase communication between stakeholders (Brown *et al.* 2008), support reforms to betterintegrate national and local-level forest management approaches (Blomley and Ramadhani 2006) and reduce control of forests by commercial interests (Westholm and Kokko 2011). REDD+ safeguards (UNFCCC 2010, Decision 1/CP.16.Add.1) supporting the rights and participation of forest people in REDD+ may help to ensure that these hopes are realized. In addition, effective benefit sharing will likely require transfers of forest tenure and carbon rights to local communities (Sikor *et al.* 2010). Benefit sharing in REDD+ may also be improved through research and forming partnerships between governments, NGOs and local communities, and with international actors working on corruption in climate governance (Burgess *et al.* 2010; UN-REDD Programme 2011). REDD+ could help to support these activities if REDD+ supports the clarification of tenure (Section 5.2), and provides additional resources and impetus for partnerships and research initiatives.

Opportunity Costs and Appropriate Compensation

If forest people are to have access to adequate REDD+ benefits, REDD+ must provide adequate local level compensation to incentivize forest conservation and offset any negative impacts (Irawan and Tacconi 2009). This issue is linked to opportunity costs of participating in REDD+: e.g. the costs of foregoing forest resources in conserved forest areas.

Determining appropriate incentives and compensation in REDD+ could be complicated, as appropriate incentives for conservation have also been difficult to achieve in ICDP arrangements (Lindhjem *et al.* 2010), and many PES schemes have not adequately estimated or compensated opportunity costs of participation (Tacconi *et al.* 2010). Ghazoul *et al.* (2010) note that compensation in REDD+ based on opportunity costs could underestimate true costs if a full range of economic, political, social and ecological factors and indirect values of current land uses and risks associated with new land uses are not included. For example, exclusion of people from forests could result in decreases in employ-

ment for local people from the forest sector and decreased commercial sector investment in local infrastructure and development activities, while new opportunities from REDD+ could have risks for local people, such as social costs of having to adjust to new livelihoods and acquire new skills (Ghazoul et al. 2010). Similarly, Peskett et al. (2008) suggest that if REDD+ focuses on the most obvious forest activities to calculate opportunity costs and appropriate compensation, many smaller scale forest activities important to the poor and potential opportunities to design REDD+ activities to benefit the poor, could be overlooked. It may also be difficult to adequately compensate land users for REDD+ in areas with high value land uses. A modelling exercise set in Ghana suggests that compensating opportunity costs may not be viable at current carbon prices in areas where high value agricultural products like cocoa are produced (Sandker et al. 2010). Similarly, a study in Tanzania concluded that compensation and incentives for farmers growing tobacco, the second highest value crop in the country and a significant contributor to deforestation, may be difficult (Mwakalobo et al. 2011). This raises the question as to whether REDD+ can incentivize optimal land use decisions.

To ensure appropriate compensation for forest people, several authors suggest a human rights approach and a focus on equitable benefit sharing (Lawlor and Huberman 2009; Sikor *et al.* 2010). Combining REDD+ incentives with incentives to conserve biodiversity and other ecosystem services could be one way to generate additional revenues from projects (Mwakalobo *et al.* 2011), and could be one strategy for creating adequate compensation in areas where REDD+ activities have high opportunity costs.

Intermediaries, Corruption and Elite Capture of Benefits

It has been argued that forest communities cannot gain benefits from carbon without engagement with intermediaries that have the necessary capital, expertise about carbon markets and carbon monitoring, and technology to allow them to participate in international carbon markets (Corbera and Brown 2010). Intermediaries can also help to lower transaction costs associated with working with smallholders (Jindal *et al.* 2008), which will be important in facilitating forest peoples' access to REDD+ benefits. In REDD+, the intermediaries – governments, NGOs, project managers, community organizations, etc. – that link

local people to international REDD+ donors and carbon markets will likely play an important role in determining how and whether forest people participate in REDD+ governance and how benefit sharing arrangements are implemented, with consequences for access and distribution of benefits.

Given the need for (likely multiple) intermediaries in REDD+, issues of power and control, at government through community levels, could be important determinants of how benefits from REDD+ and REDD+-managed forests are distributed, and who is able to participate in governance of these resources. There is widespread concern that weak governance and corruption and embezzlement of REDD+ funds by elites at national through local levels could prevent equitable distribution of REDD+ benefits and exclude marginal groups (Ebeling and Yasué 2008; Griffiths 2008; Larson and Ribot 2009; Lawlor and Huberman 2009; Peskett *et al.* 2008). Because forest people tend to have less power (Sunderlin *et al.* 2009), corruption in governance structures could allow elites – those with more power in the chain of intermediaries linking forest people to REDD+ donors – to capture more than an equitable share of REDD+ benefits.

Quality of Intermediaries

In PES carbon schemes, it has been found that the quality of intermediaries linking carbon credit producers to buyers can play an important role in determining the extent to which local people benefit (Corbera 2010). Intermediaries can remove decision-making control from local people, and less skilled intermediaries can have negative impacts on local communities (Corbera 2010; Nelson and de Jong 2003).

In the centralized implementation of REDD+, intermediaries appear to hold considerable power in payment structures (Vatn *et al.* 2009), raising concerns that too many intermediaries could lie between national and local stakeholders, and that intermediaries could capture the majority of funds with few benefits reaching forest people (Van Dam 2011). Successful REDD+ will therefore require the design and implementation of effective and equitable benefit sharing arrangements combined with appropriate policies and monitoring to reduce corruption and ensure transparency and accountability from donors and carbon credit buyers to forest peoples (Angelsen 2009; Vatn *et al.* 2009). REDD+ safeguards requiring 'transparent and effective national forest governance structures'

and requirements to be results based should support these processes (UNFCCC 2010, Decision 1/CP.16.Add.1). REDD+ activities orchestrated by development-oriented programs like the UN-REDD Programme may also be better positioned to provide and support socially-oriented intermediaries compared to profit-oriented forest carbon companies.

Corruption

Corruption, to varying degrees, is apparent in many of the national institutions that are involved in REDD+ (Angelsen 2009). Many of the countries that have the highest potential to generate income or to gain from the associated conservation and/or human development benefits of REDD+, including Liberia and DRC, score poorly on indicators of governance (Ebeling and Yasué 2008). Forest people in DRC are concerned that low accountability and transparency in centralized governments, which have resulted in a lack of control over forest resources and lack of ability to benefit from forests, will be perpetuated under REDD+ (Dkamela et al. 2009). Similarly, in Cameroon, NGOs are concerned that REDD+ will be handled similarly to other international initiatives, like HIV/AIDS, where there was little accountability in how funds were used by the government, such that the people of Cameroon did not benefit significantly (Brown et al. 2010). Embezzlement and elite capture have been observed in the forest tax in Cameroon (Lindhjem et al. 2010), and in the control and management of forest exploitation rights and access to international markets in Ghana (Hansen et al. 2009). It is thought that even PFM in Tanzania, a program that has fairly progressive forest policies and significant donor support, would benefit from considerable reforms to address government deficiencies, inefficiency, and corruption (Burgess et al. 2010; Vatn et al. 2009).

At the local level, experience from other forest management activities demonstrates how individuals and community organizations may fail to distribute funds in an equitable manner. Some ICDP and CFM arrangements have resulted in funds that have been controlled by village elites, embezzled, or spent on projects that do not benefit the majority of the community, often exacerbating marginalization of some less empowered community groups (Lindhjem *et al.* 2010). Embezzlement from village development and forest management funds has been a problem in Burkina Faso where community funds established to dis-

tribute funds from wood harvest in local forests in many communities have seen a gradual increase in corruption and increasingly unequal distribution of funds (Kokko 2010; Westholm and Kokko 2011). Evidence from past forest management activities demonstrates the importance of good governance and transparency from national through local scales to avoid corruption and elite capture of forest management benefits.

There is concern that it will be difficult to avoid corruption and complete legitimate financial transactions in REDD+ (Vatn et al. 2009). Where corruption and lack of transparency and accountability exist, REDD+ will be less likely to benefit the poor (Peskett et al. 2008). At the international level, high corruption and low transparency and accountability could deter REDD+ investment in many poorer countries (Cerbu et al. 2011; Peskett et al. 2008), preventing forest people in these countries from accessing REDD+ benefits. Conversely, the potential for increased international scrutiny and pressure to decentralize control over forest resources under REDD+ could make it less attractive in countries like Ghana where political elites currently benefit from significant resource exploitation revenues (Hansen et al. 2009). In both cases, the effect would be topreclude the ability of forest people in these countries to access REDD+ benefits. However, if REDD+ safeguards are implemented requiring 'transparent and effective national forest governance structures' (UNFCCC 2010, Decision 1/CP.16. Add.1), REDD+ could support reforms that reduce corruption and elite capture of benefits from REDD+ and REDD+-managed forests.

Local Level Elite Captureand Equitable Distribution of Benefits

Experience from forest management shows how local level elites may be positioned to capture an inequitable share of benefits, even through legal channels. In Tanzania and Cameroon, CFM arrangements have resulted in the emergence of village elites who control funds and make decisions based on their vested interests (Accra Caucus 2010; Odgaard and Maganga 2009; Oyono *et al.* 2007). PFM in Tanzania demonstrates that even when significant returns are realized at the village level, local institutions do not always have the capacity to manage the collection and dispersal of the funds, while lucrative illegal logging opportunities can act as a disincentive for local officials to make resource decisions in a way that honour local rights and equitably share benefits (Blomley and Ramadhani 2006; Nelson 2010).

It is generally hoped that REDD+ could be used as a tool to transition towards more inclusive and accessible carbon markets (Haskett and Gutman 2010), and could provide more stable sources of income for the poor (Peskett et al. 2008). However, REDD+ safeguards do not specifically address inequity in distribution at the local level, and in a review of nine of the first 25 R-PINS, only the DRC and Nepal referenced the need to monitor social impacts of REDD+ (Dooley et al. 2008). REDD+ monitoring still currently focuses on carbon and cost-effectiveness, with criteria for evaluating livelihood contributions and impacts yet to be defined and formally integrated in most initiatives (Rosendal and Andresen 2011). Nevertheless, REDD+ safeguards do require REDD+ to be driven by results and to align with international conventions and agreements, which presumably include those pertaining to human rights and development (UNFCCC 2010, Decision 1/CP.16.Add.1), and REDD+ programs are beginning to establish social impact monitoring procedures and criteria (e.g. UN-REDD Programme's Social and Environmental Principles and Criteria (SEPC) and Benefit and Risks Tool (BeRT) (UN-REDD Programme 2009)).

In general, it is thought that participation of local and indigenous people in the REDD+ process and good benefit-sharing mechanisms will improve equity and reduce the likelihood that REDD+ is implemented in such a way as to have negative effects on land and resource rights, livelihoods and culture at the local level (Agrawal and Angelsen 2009; Laltaika 2009). REDD+ safeguards support this participation (UNFCCC 2010, Decision 1/CP.16.Add.1). Sena (2009) notes that it is important for local people to take the initiative in being involved in REDD+ processes. Equitable distribution of REDD+ benefits may also be improved by involving local people in monitoring (Burgess *et al.* 2010). Key challenges will be establishing trustworthy intermediaries (Vatn *et al.* 2009) and creating effective community organizations to manage decentralized forest responsibilities and revenues (Mwakalobo *et al.* 2011).

Wealth, Resources, and Knowledge

Wealth, resources and knowledge can affect the capacity of different forest people to participate in REDD+ activities, participate in REDD+ governance, and access REDD+ benefits and forest resources.

Knowledge and Participation in REDD+ and Forest Governance

The procedural rights of forest people include the right to sufficient information to allow them to participate in decision-making about forest management (Brown *et al.* 2008; Sikor *et al.* 2010). Experience with ICDPs suggests that equipping local communities and organizations to make decisions will be important to REDD+ success (Brandon and Wells 2009). Access to benefits from carbon PES is shaped by the skill, education and negotiating ability of potential participants (Tacconi *et al.* 2010). In general, farmers and rural communities are less able to benefit from forest carbon sequestration because they do not have sufficient knowledge and expertise (Corbera and Brown 2010; Minang *et al.* 2007). Knowledge is also lacking about current forest management rules and structures; for example, forestry laws in the DRC are often not available in local languages (Dkamela *et al.* 2009).

Forest people need sufficient authority and information to allow them to decide whether and how they want to participate in REDD+, and to allow them to participate in decision-making and implementation with respect to all aspects of REDD+, including monitoring and revenue sharing (Phelps *et al.* 2010). However, awareness and knowledge about REDD+ and its implications is still quite limited in forest communities in Africa, and in indigenous communities in particular (Accra Caucus 2010; Brown *et al.* 2010; Dkamela *et al.* 2009; Kokko 2010; Odgaard and Maganga 2009; Sena 2009).

Wealth and Capacity to Access Benefits from REDD+

The ability of poor forest people to participate in and benefit from REDD+ will be an important consideration, given that there is a correlation between high poverty and forest areas (Sunderlin *et al.* 2008a). Experience with forestry and carbon forestry suggests that the poor may have reduced capacity to access REDD+ benefits and participate in REDD+ negotiations (Brown *et al.* 2010; Peskett *et al.* 2008). Experience with verification schemes in the current forestry sector suggests that strict carbon verification schemes in REDD+ could restrict access to REDD+ benefits by smaller producers and the poor (Peskett *et al.* 2008). Lessons from CFM and PES suggest that wealthier community members tend to have more decision-making power and are more likely to have the

time and resources to participate in income generating opportunities (Lindhjem et al. 2010). Where PES is used to implement REDD+, there is evidence that while the poor are able to participate, they face sizeable barriers to participation if transaction and initial investment costs are high (Grieg-Gran et al. 2005; Jindal et al. 2008; Pagiola et al. 2009). In Uganda, the ability of households to participate in a carbon PES scheme was largely determined by whether they had adequate wealth to overcome up-front costs (German et al. 2010b). In Brazil, it was estimated that large landowners would benefit most from a PES scheme under REDD+, largely because they are responsible for most deforestation (80 %) in the country (Börner et al. 2010). Similarly, in a modelling exercise in cocoa agroforests in Ghana, it was found that REDD+ will likely exacerbate gaps between rich and poor farmers, because wealthier farmers who own more land would get significantly larger REDD+ payments (Sandker et al. 2010). Small landowners, by contrast, are generally less attractive partners for forest carbon projects because of higher associated transaction costs (Jindal et al. 2008). Springate-Baginski and Wollenberg (2010) conclude that the Kyoto Mechanism's Clean Development Market (CDM) and voluntary carbon markets do not benefit the poor and can exacerbate marginalization, largely due to high transaction costs. There is concern that REDD+ could have the same issues with respect to high transaction costs restricting participation by the poor (Lawlor and Huberman 2009).

Even where payments are made at the community rather than individual level, as in most PES schemes, experience from other forest management activities suggest the poor may still get excluded from benefits. In ICDPs, the poor are not always able to afford fees to access schools and clinics provided by ICDP funding (Lindhjem *et al.* 2010). At the same time, REDD+ could have additional adverse impacts on the poor by raising local commodity prices (Peskett *et al.* 2008).

Wealth and Access to Forest Resources

Carbon forestry suggests that potential restrictions in access to resources from REDD+-managed forests could negatively impact the poor. Voluntary and CDM carbon market programs that have formalized resource rights have often resulted in lost rights for the poorest people (Springate-Baginski and Wollenberg 2010). PES schemes can restrict access to land and resources, increase cost of living, and

increase the value of marginal land, resulting in lost income and displacement for non-participants, particularly for certain groups like women, the poor and informal settlers (Tacconi *et al.* 2010). A modelling study suggests land diverted to REDD+ activities may have similar impacts on the landless poor in Ghana who lease land from wealthier farmers (Sandker *et al.* 2010). Similarly, forest policy implemented without appropriate checks and balances can negatively affect the poor, as in Uganda where decentralization of forest management has restricted access to forest resources by poor households, while forest income for wealthy households has increased (Jagger 2008). Without adequate attention to equity considerations, REDD+ could facilitate similar shifts in distribution of access to forest resources (Larson and Ribot 2009). Indirectly, REDD+ could also restrict access to land by the poor by increasing land prices (Vatn *et al.* 2009).

If REDD+ restricts access to forests and forest resources that are particularlyimportant to the livelihoods of poor forest people, it will negatively impact their ability to participate in important subsistence and income generating activities. This will mean that negative effects of restricted access to forests are most likely to be felt by more marginalized populations, including the poor, the elderly, and women (Lawlor and Huberman 2009; Peskett et al. 2008; Vatn et al. 2009). In Africa, where REDD+ is likely to be implemented largely on state-owned and common lands, restricted access could be particularly problematic for those, like the landless poor, who are more dependent on common lands for their livelihoods (Lindhjem et al. 2010). Restrictions on collection of non-timber forest products (NTFPs) in REDD+ reserves could prevent women and informal settlers from participating in NTFP markets, which could decrease their income (Tacconi et al. 2010). There is also concern in local communities in DRC and Cameroon that reduced access to land could reduce opportunities for development through activities like agricultural expansion, as has happened with reserve implementation in both countries (Dkamela et al. 2009). These issues could be particularly important in very poor countries like Burkina Faso where large proportions of the population are forest dependent (Westholm 2010), and relyon trees for livelihood diversification (Westholm and Kokko 2011), which is important for resilience (Scoones 1998). Restricted access to forest resources from REDD+ could thus have a substantial impact on the substantive rights of the poorest forest people, which involve their rights to a minimum standard of living (Sikor et al. 2010).

Gender and Ethnicity

In many places in Africa, resource and knowledge barriers are linked to gender and ethnicity. In Mozambique, there are fewer women in leadership roles in the community's trust that is managing REDD+ funds (Jindal 2010). PES studies also suggest that women often benefit less from these schemes (Corbera 2010; Hedge 2010; Jindal 2010); however, where reduced benefit is linked to land tenure (e.g. Corbera 2010), this inequity in distribution may be reduced in the case of REDD+ in Africa where forests are mainly owned by the state (Sunderlin *et al.* 2008b).

Indigenous communities have also been less active in participating in REDD+ as a result of having lower education, fewer government connections and support, weak legal standing, and a lack of resources and capacity to participate in international forums (Schroeder 2010; Sena 2009).

Approaches to REDD+ Implementation

When implementing REDD+, there are a number of choices that need to be made. These choices have significant implications for how REDD+ benefits are distributed and how REDD+ affects access to forest resources.

Definition of Forests and Eligibility of Activities Under REDD+

There is concern that the definition of forests and eligible activities under REDD+ could make some forest people ineligible to benefit, or could favour the distribution of REDD+ resources to non-forest people in some countries. Some communities may be ineligible to benefit from REDD+ if conservation activities are already underway in their forests, or if there is already a low deforestation rate (Lawlor and Huberman 2009; Van Dam 2011). For example, in Tanzania, DRC and Cameroon, there is concern that forest people could be excluded from REDD+ benefits where forests are already legally protected in reserves, meaning their conservation activities are not additional (Dkamela *et al.* 2009; Laltaika 2009). By contrast, commercial interests like logging companies could benefit considerably if the definition of forests adopted by REDD+ favours exotic plantations or existing logging concession holders (Accra Caucus 2010; Dkamela *et al.* 2009). In DRC, the REDD+ Preparation Proposal (RPP)

includes 10 million hectares of new logging concessions (Accra Caucus 2010), and plans to increase security of logging concessions (Dooley *et al.* 2008). More broadly, how baselines are established will affect the extent to which countries that have a history of forest conservation (and thus their forest people) will be able to access REDD+ resources (Peskett *et al.* 2008).

The potential for REDD+ definitions to negatively affect forest people will vary considerably with national plans to implement REDD+ and with national contexts and baseline calculations. Negative impacts should be at least partly avoided if REDD+ safeguards (UNFCCC 2010, Decision 1/CP.16.Add.1) regarding the rights of forest people and full and effective participation of all stakeholders are wellimplemented. In particular, the safeguard specifying that REDD+ 'actions are not used for the conversion of natural forests' should help to protect against REDD+ favouring logging interests over forest people.

REDD+ Design and Forest Management Choices

The forest management approaches chosen for REDD+ implementation determine what types of benefits are available and the pathways to accessing these benefits, which in turn affects who can participate in REDD+ and REDD+ governance, and who can benefit from resources from REDD+, and to what extent.

PES

Where PES is used in REDD+, evidence from schemes involving PES to individuals, including schemes in Mozambique and Uganda, suggests benefits to forest people could include significantly increased and stable income for participants, increased natural and social capital, access to education and training, education and health benefits from invested PES income, and increased capacity to participate in scheme governance (Blom *et al.* 2010; Tacconi *et al.* 2010). Some PES schemes have been found to increase social capital and community organization and capacity to participate in negotiations and planning, in part by improving connections between communities, and between communities and local government and external institutions (German *et al.* 2010b; Jindal 2010; Tacconi *et al.* 2010). However, PES also carries risks of inequitable distribution of costs and benefits and conflict between participants and non-participants (Tacconi *et al.*

2010). The potential for harm from exploitative contracts with forest people are another cause for concern in REDD+ (Lawlor and Huberman 2009), fuelled by PES research in Uganda and Mozambique that suggests that long-term carbon contracts could negatively impact local people if harvesting trees or alternative land-uses become more attractive (German *et al.* 2010b; Jindal *et al.* 2008). Shorter-term contracts combined with land-use flexibility may help people to access PES benefits (Purdon 2010).

PES can also have positive and negative impacts on those who are not directly participating, such as increased money and employment opportunities in the broader community, as well as adverse effects on agricultural lands adjacent to project lands and decreased access to customary grazing land (German *et al.* 2010b; Jindal 2010). In PES schemes, risks and benefits and their distribution are governed by how schemes are designed, resource rights, the existence of regulatory frameworks, the ability of the poor to participate, the size of payments, the capacity of sellers, the availability of market information, links to communication infrastructure and mechanisms to reduce transaction costs (Tacconi *et al.* 2010). It is likely that many of these factors will affect how benefits are realized in REDD+ projects, particularly those with a PES component.

Alternative Benefit Distribution Mechanisms

Alternative approaches to distributing benefits from REDD+ to forest people include employment opportunities, community funds and local infrastructure development. REDD+ could also provide indirect benefits to forest people via contributions to development at the national level (Peskett *et al.* 2008). Payments to communities may be important in the case of REDD+, particularly where forest people have only customary rights to land and resources and so are less able to participate directly in carbon transactions (Vatn *et al.* 2009). In some cases, non-PES approaches, or approaches modelled after PES on common land rather than private land, could provide more equitable distribution of resources, particularly where the need to own land prevents some community members from participating in PES schemes. For example, the Nhambita Community Carbon Project in Mozambique combines: a) direct REDD+ payments to individual community members who guard protected forests; b) REDD+ payments to a community trust; and c) a PES scheme on community members' land. This

delivers benefits to both those directly involved in REDD+ activities as well as those in the broader community who may be bearing some costs of restricted forest access (Jindal 2010). A community association representing different villages makes decisions about community trust funds, which so far have been used to build two schools and a health clinic (Jindal 2010). Similarly, based on a study of a carbon project in West Africa, Purdon (2010) suggests delivering a portion of carbon finance to community development projects. However, although REDD+ funds used to build local infrastructure like roads can improve access to markets, inequity in access to employment opportunities and infrastructure can still cause conflict, and collective payments may not be effectively managed, particularly where functioning community organizations do not exist prior to carbon project implementation (Tacconi *et al.* 2010).

Protected Areas

When forest PAs are established, the poorest in the community, who tend to be highly dependent on forests, have few tenure rights and less political influence, are therefore more likely to experience negative impacts (Campbell *et al.* 2008). In Tanzania, exclusion from forest reserves has had negative impacts on pastoralists who historically used those lands for grazing, and women who collect NTFP (Odgaard and Maganga 2009).

Pro-poor Approach to REDD+

A review of early experience with REDD+ found no evidence of negative effects on equity, and found small but positive livelihood benefits when efforts are taken to make REDD+ pro-poor (Bond et al. 2009). Although concern has been expressed that a pro-poor approach could complicate and reduce the effectiveness of REDD+ as an environmental tool (Peskett et al. 2008), many argue that REDD+ should not only do no harm to the poor, but should be pro-poor to ensure adequate conservation incentives for forest communities and equity, and to attract investors motivated by corporate social responsibility (Brown et al. 2008; Vatn et al. 2009).

At the national level, a pro-poor approach to REDD+ is being adopted in some African countries, like Tanzania; however, research is still needed to de-

termine how and whether the PFM approach that will be used can generate pro-poor benefits (Mwakalobo et al. 2011). At the local level, PES and REDD+ research suggests that these schemes can be designed and implemented to encourage broader participation, for example by: giving preferential payments to more disadvantaged participants, ensuring adequate upfront payments to cover initial investment costs where applicable, ensuring equitable distribution of resources from common areas, designing appropriate compensation to reflect opportunity costs⁶, compensating both those participating directly in REDD+ activities as well as others who have lost access to forest resources and opportunities, keeping transaction costs below 20 per cent of PES payments, grouping participants to reduce costs, providing ex ante payments for emission reductions rather than ex post, maintaining access to forest resources and grazing lands, and including a mixed portfolio of activities to increase and diversify rural incomes (Börner et al. 2010; Campbell et al. 2008; German et al. 2010b; Haskett and Gutman 2010; Jindal 2010; Peskett et al. 2008; Tacconi et al. 2010; Westholm 2010). Some REDD+ implementation options, such as community forestry, will likely be more effective at delivering benefits to the poor than others (Peskett et al. 2008). A Mozambique REDD+/PES project suggests that combining REDD+ activities on common land and PES on private land can lower overall transaction costs and help to make REDD+ resources equally accessible to the poor (Jindal 2010). Irrespective of the approach taken, the ability of REDD+ to benefit the poor will be affected by a variety of factors including institutional structures, government capacity, legislation, land tenure, administration and transaction costs, and information availability (German et al. 2010b; Haskett and Gutman 2010; Peskett et al. 2008). Whether REDD+ benefits the poor will likely also depend highly on where REDD+ is implemented; if REDD+ targets areas at high threat for deforestation, the poor, who tend to live in remote areas, may benefit less (Tacconi et al. 2010).

At the international level a pro-poor approach could prevent REDD+ from performing similarly to other multi-lateral funding and carbon market mechanisms, like the Global Environment Facility and CDM, which have seen the most developed developing countries receive the majority of funding (Cerbu *et al.* 2011; Rosendal and Andresen 2011). This would mean that opportunities to benefit from REDD+ resources are not available to many of the world's poorest people. Early trends are somewhat promising in that 37 countries selected for

REDD+ Readiness support include least developed as well as lower and middle income countries, with Africa, Asia and Latin America being equally represented (Cerbu *et al.* 2011; Rosendal and Andresen 2011). However, demonstration activities have been concentrated in East Asia, the Pacific, and the Amazon, and REDD+ investments have not been significantly aligned with human need (Cerbu *et al.* 2011), suggesting that REDD+ will also have to be designed to be pro-poor at the level of international funders.

Conclusion

REDD+ interacts with a number of contextual variables to effect different potential outcomes for forest people in terms of access to and distribution of resources, and their ability to participate in governance. These contextual and outcome variables are intertwined and interacting. Africa is a massive continent where, despite some general trends, large amounts of variation in historic and geographic contexts will likely have a significant impact on how REDD+ plays out in individual countries. How REDD+ affects forest people will depend significantly on the country context in which a REDD+ program is implemented, the choices made about REDD+ implementation and the extent to which REDD+ perpetuates or deviates from existing forest policy and management regimes, and the extent to which forest people are involved in REDD+ governance. In many countries in Africa, it is likely that REDD+ will require considerable reform of governance and forest management structures to increase transparency, decrease corruption, secure rights, improve benefit sharing, and increase opportunities for real participation of forest people in REDD+ negotiations, design, and implementation.

Perhaps more so than any previous forest management regimes, REDD+ is equipped with the resources and international support that could allow it to instigate reforms and address complex and persistent forest governance challenges to make real improvements in how forest governance affects forest people in Africa. The scale of REDD+ and extent of international buy-in make REDD+ a persuasive and pervasive force, while internationally agreed upon REDD+ guidelines and safeguards, coupled with international scrutiny, should help REDD+ activities and REDD+-instigated reforms to align to international norms and avoid many pitfalls common in forest management in Africa.

To succeed, REDD+ will need to continue learning from other forest management activities where appropriate, and develop rigorous indicators and research procedures for understanding, monitoring and predicting the social and environmental implications of different methods of REDD+ implementation in different contexts. Given the high degree of variability of the African context, understanding the usefulness of generalizations about REDD+ effects, and better-linking specific outcomes to individual permutations of contextual variables will be priority areas for further research. Additional important areas for further research include understanding the roles and motivations of international donors and their interactions with other contextual factors in shaping REDD+, the nuances of local level benefit distribution and how factors like social agreements come into play, and what local knowledge is needed for equitable participation in REDD+ and how knowledge dissemination is best accomplished. Because understanding of the effects of REDD+ on forest people is still largely speculative, future research and the collecting of good baseline and implementation data from REDD+ initiatives will be imperative to understand how REDD+ interacts with forest policy and activities and how the interests of different REDD+ stakeholders interact, and the consequences for forest people in terms of their ability to meaningfully participate in and benefit from REDD+.

Notes

- 1. In 2010, Africa provided 1.9 MtCO₂e of a total 29.0 MtCO₂e contracted on the global primary forest carbon market (Diaz *et al.* 2011).
- 2. Ghana is a notable exception, with Ghanaian elites fighting at the turn of the 20th century to retain land rights, such that 70 per cent of Ghana is collectively owned by communities (Wily 2011).
- 3. Exceptions include village land areas of Tanzania, stool, skin and family lands in Ghana, and community areas in Mozambique (Wily 2011).
- 4. Compliance markets are those markets set up for trade in carbon credits necessary to fulfill binding obligations to reduce emissions: e.g. the Clean Development Mechanism (CDM) set up to allow countries to fulfill their obligations under the Kyoto Protocol. Voluntary markets allow trade in carbon credits for individuals and groups that wish to offset their emissions voluntarily. Methodologies and allowed activities vary considerably between different schemes, and are generally more flexible compared to compliance markets.
- PFM is a type of Community Forest Management that has been widely implemented in Tanzania, and is expected to form the basis of REDD+ implementation in the country.
- 6. However, Vatn *et al.* (2009) argue that if payments only equal opportunity costs, they will not provide additional opportunities for development.

References

- Accra Caucus, 2010, Realising rights, protecting forests: An Alternative Vision for Reducing Deforestation. Accra Caucus on Forests and Climate Change. Available: http://www.rainforestfoundationuk.org/files/Accra_Report_English.pdf
- Agrawal, A. and Angelsen, A., 2009, Using community forest management to achieve REDD+ goals. In: A. Angelsen (ed.), Realising REDD+: National strategy and policy options, Bogor, Indonesia: Centre for International Forestry Research, pp. 201–211.
- Aldrich, M. and Sayer, J., 2007, In practice: Landscape Outcomes Assessment Methodology 'LOAM', WWF Forests for Life Programme.
- Angelsen, A. (ed.), 2009, Realising REDD+: National strategy and policy options, Bogor, Indonesia: Centre for International Forestry Research. Available: www.cifor.org/publications/pdf_files/Books/BAngelsen0902.pdf
- Beebe, J., 1995, Basic concepts and techniques of rapid appraisal. Human Organization, 54(1), pp. 42–51.
- Blom, B., Sunderland, T. and Murdiyarso, D., 2010, Getting REDD to work locally: lessons learned from integrated conservation and development projects. Environmental Science & Policy, 13(2), pp. 164–172.
- Blomley, T. and Ramadhani, H., 2006, Going to Scale with Participatory Forest Management: Early Lessons from Tanzania. International Forestry Review, 8(1), pp. 93–100.
- Bond, I., Grieg-Gran, M., Wertz-Kanounnikoff, S., Hazlewood, P., Wunder, S. and Angelsen, A., 2009, Incentives to sustain forest ecosystem services: A review and lessons for REDD, London, UK: International Institute for Environment and Development. Available: pubs.iied.org/pubs/pdfs/13555IIED.pdf

- Börner, J., Wunder, S., Wertz-Kanounnikoff, S., Tito, M.R., Pereira, L. and Nascimento, N., 2010, Direct conservation payments in the Brazilian Amazon: Scope and equity implications. Ecological Economics, 69(6), pp. 272–1282.
- Bosquet, B., 2011, Cameroon: not ready for REDD. Nature 474, p. 36.
- Boyd, E., Gutierrez, M. and Chang, M., 2007, Small-scale forest carbon projects: Adapting CDM to low-income communities. Global environmental change, 17(2), pp.250–259.
- Brandon, K. & Wells, M., 2009, Lessons for REDD+ from protected areas and integrated conservation and development projects. In: A. Angelsen (ed.), Realising REDD+: National strategy and policy options, Bogor, Indonesia: Centre for International Forestry Research, pp. 225–235.
- Brandon, K. & Wells, M., 2009, Lessons for REDD+ from protected areas and integrated conservation and development projects. In: A. Angelsen (ed.), Realising REDD+: National strategy and policy options, Bogor, Indonesia: Centre for International Forestry Research, pp. 225–235.
- Brown, D., Seymour, F. and Peskett, L., 2008, How do we achieve REDD cobenefits and avoid doing harm. In: A. Angelsen (ed.), Moving ahead with REDD: Issues, Options and Implications, Bogor, Indonesia: Centre for International Forestry Research, pp. 107–118.
- Brown, H.C.P., Nkem, J.N., Sonwa, D.J. and Bele, Y., 2010, Institutional adaptive capacity and climate change response in the Congo Basin forests of Cameroon. Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change, 15(3), pp. 263–282. Available: http://www.springerlink.com/index/u065514436870075.pdf.
- Burgess, N., Bahane, B., Clairs, T. and Danielsen, F., 2010, Getting ready for REDD+ in Tanzania: a case study of progress and challenges. Oryx 44(3), pp. 339-351.
- Campbell, A., Clark, S., Coad, L., Miles, L., Bolt, K. and Roe, D., 2008, Protecting the future: carbon, forests, protected areas and local livelihoods. Biodiversity, 9(3 & 4), pp. 117–121.
- Catley, A., Burns, J. and Abebe, D., 2008, Participatory Impact Assessment, A Guide for Practitioners.Relief Web Report,Medford, MA: Feinstein International Centre, Tufts University. Available at: http://wikis.uit.tufts.edu/confluence/display/FIC/Participatory+Impact+Assessment

- Cerbu, G.A., Swallow, B.M. and Thompson, D.Y., 2011, Locating REDD: A global survey and analysis of REDD readiness and demonstration activities. Environmental Science & Policy, 14(2), pp. 168–180.
- Chhatre, A. & Agrawal, A., 2009, Trade-offs and synergies between carbon storage and livelihood benefits from forest commons. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 106(42), pp. 17,667-17,670.
- Corbera, E., 2010, Mexico's PES-carbon programme: a preliminary assessment of impacts on rural livelihoods. In: L. Tacconi, S. Mahanty, and H. Suich (eds.), Payments for Environmental Services, Forest Conservation and Climate Change. Livelihoods in the REDD?, Northampton, MA: Edward Elgar Publishing Limited, pp. 54–81.
- Corbera, E. and Brown, K. 2010, Offsetting benefits? Analyzing access to forest carbon. Environment and Planning A, 42(7), pp. 1739–1761.
- Danielsen, F., Skutsch, M., Burgess, N.D., Jensen, P.M., Andrianandrasana, H., Karky, B., Lewis, R., Lovett, J.C., Massao, J., Ngaga, Y., Phartiyal, P., Poulsen, M.K., Singh, S.P., Solis, S., Sorensen, M., Tewari, A., Young, R. and Zahabu, E., 2011, At the heart of REDD+: a role for local people in monitoring forests? Conservation Letters, 4(2), pp. 158–167.
- De Koning, R., Capistrano, D., Yasmi, Y. and Cerutti, P.O., 2008, Forest-related conflict: impacts, links and measures to mitigate, Washington DC: Rights and Resources Initiative.
- Diaz, D., Hamilton, K. and Johnson, E., 2011, State of the Forest Carbon Markets 2011 From Canopy to Currency. Ecosystem Marketplace, Forest Trends Association.
- Dkamela, G., Mbambu, F., Austin, K., Minnemeyer, S. and Stolle, F., 2009, Voices From the Congo Basin: Incorporating the Perspectives of Local Stakeholders for Improved REDD Design. Working Paper, Washington, DC: World Resources Institute. Available at: http://pdf.wri.org/working_papers/voices_from_the_congo_basin.pdf
- Dooley, K., Griffiths, T., Leake, H. and Ozinga, S., 2008, Cutting Corners: World Bank's forest and carbon fund fails forests and peoples, Moreton in Marsh, UK:FERN and Forest Peoples Programme. Available at: http://www.ibcperu.org/doc/isis/9964.pdf
- Ebeling, J. and Yasué, M., 2008, Generating carbon finance through avoided deforestation and its potential to create climatic, conservation and human de-

- velopment benefits. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B, 363, pp. 1917–1924.
- Evans, K. de Jong, W., Cronkleton, P., Sheil, D., Lynam, T., Kusumanto, T. and Pierce Colfer, C.J., 2006, Guide to Participatory Tools for Forest Communities, Bogor, Indonesia: Centre for International Forestry Research.
- FAO, 2006, Global Forest Resources Assessment 2005: Progress towards sustainable forest management, Rome, Italy: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.
- Fortmann, L., 2008, Participatory Research in Conservation and Rural Livelihoods, Hoboken, NJ:Wiley-Blackwell.
- Frechtling, J. and Westat, L.S., 1997, User-Friendly Handbook for Mixed Method Evaluations. National Science Foundation. Available: http://www.nsf.gov/pubs/1997/nsf97153/start.htm. [Accessed 31 August 2011]
- German, L.A., Karsenty, A. and Tiani, A.-M. (eds.), 2010a, Governing Africa's forests in a globalized world, Sterling, VA: Earthscan.
- German, L.A., Ruhweza, A. and Mwesigwa, R., 2010b, Social and environmental footprints of carbon payments: a case study from Uganda. In: L. Tacconi, S. Mahanty, and H. Suich (eds.), Payments for Environmental Services, Forest Conservation and Climate Change. Livelihoods in the REDD? Northampton, MA: Edward Elgar Publishing Limited, pp. 160–184.
- Ghazoul, J., Butler, R.A., Mateo-Vega, J. and Koh, L.P., 2010, REDD: a reckoning of environment and development implications. Trends in Ecology & Evolution, 25(7), pp. 396–402.
- Gomera, M. and Rihoy, L., 2010, A Changing Climate for Community Resource Governance: Threats and Opportunities from Climate Change and the Emerging Carbon Market. In: F. Nelson (ed.), Community rights, conservation and contested land: the politics of natural resource governance in Africa, Washington DC: Earthscan, pp. 293–309.
- Grieg-Gran, M., Porras, I. and Wunder, S., 2005, How can market mechanisms for forest environmental services help the poor? Preliminary lessons from Latin America. World Development, 33(9), pp. 1511–1527.
- Griffiths, T., 2008, Seeing 'REDD?' Forests, climate change mitigation and the rights of indigenous peoples and local communities, Forest Peoples Programme. Available at: http://ibcperu.org/doc/isis/9981.pdf

- Hamilton, K., Chokkalingam, U. and Bendana, M., 2010, State of the Forest Carbon Markets 2009: Taking Root and Branching Out, Washington DC:Forest Trends Association. Available at: http://moderncms.ecosystemmarketplace.com/repository/moderncms_documents/SFCM.pdf
- Hansen, C.P., Lund, J.F. and Treue, T., 2009, Neither Fast, Nor Easy: The Prospect of Reduced Emissions from Deforestation and Degradation (REDD) in Ghana. International Forestry Review, 11(4), pp. 439–455.
- Haskett, J. and Gutman, P., 2010, Taking stock of the Global Environment Facility experience with payments for environmental service projects. In: L. Tacconi, S. Mahanty, and H. Suich (eds.), Payments for Environmental Services, Forest Conservation and Climate Change. Livelihoods in the REDD? Northampton, MA: Edward Elgar Publishing Limited, pp. 26–53.
- Hedge, R., 2010, Payments for ecosystems services and farm household behavior: the case of carbon in Mozambique's agro-forests. Doctoral Dissertation, Vancouver, BC: The University of British Columbia.
- Hoyle, D., 2011, Cameroon: listening to indigenous peoples. Nature, 474, p. 36.
- Irawan, S. and Tacconi, L., 2009, Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and Forest Degradation (REDD) and decentralized forest management. International Forestry Review, 11(4), pp. 427–438.
- Jagger, P., 2008, Forest Incomes After Uganda's Forest Sector Reform: Are the Rural Poor Gaining? Working Paper No. 92, Washington DC:CAPRi. Available at: http://www.capri.cgiar.org/pdf/capriwp92.pdf
- Jagger, P., Atmadja, S., Pattanayak, S.K., Sills, E. and Sunderlin, W.D., 2009, Learning while doing - Evaluating impacts of REDD+ projects. In: A. Angelsen (ed.), Realising REDD+: national strategy and policy options, Bogor, Indonesia: Centre for International Forestry Research, pp. 281-292.
- Jagger, P., Sills, E.O., Lawlor, K. and Sunderlin, W.D., 2010, A guide to learning about livelihood impacts of REDD+ projects. Occasional Paper 56, Bogor, Indonesia: Centre for International Forestry Research.
- Jindal, R., Swallow, B. and Kerr, J., 2008, Forest-based carbon sequestration projects in Africa: Potential benefits and challenges. Natural Resources Forum, 32(2), pp. 116–130.
- Jindal, R., 2010, Livelihood impacts of payments for forest carbon services: field evidence from Mozambique. In: L. Tacconi, S. Mahanty, and H. Suich (eds.), Payments for Environmental Services, Forest Conservation and Climate

- Change. Livelihoods in the REDD?, Northampton, MA:Edward Elgar Publishing Limited, pp. 185-211.
- Kokko, S., 2010, Local forest governance and benefit sharing from reduced emissions from deforestation and forest degradation (REDD) Case study from Burkina Faso. Master's Thesis, Uppsala, Sweden: Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences.
- Laltaika, E., 2009, Tanzania: Indigenous Peoples' Recent Engagement in the REDD Process. Indigenous Affairs, 1, pp. 28–31.
- Larson, A.M. and Ribot, J.C., 2009, Lessons from forestry decentralisation. In: A. Angelsen (ed.), Realising REDD+: National strategy and policy options, Bogor, Indonesia: Centre for International Forestry Research, pp. 175–190.
- Lawlor, K. and Huberman, D., 2009, Reduced emissions from deforestation and forest degradation (REDD) and human rights. In: J. Campese *et al.* (eds.), Rights-based approaches: Exploring issues and opportunities for conservation. Centre for International Forestry Research, pp. 269-286.
- Leeuw, F. and Vaessen, J., 2009, Impact evaluations and development: NONIE guidance on impact evaluation. Network of Networks on Impact Evaluation. Available at: ir.anet.ua.ac.be [Accessed: 31 August 2011]
- Lindhjem, H., Aronsen, I., Braten, K. and Gleinsvik, A., 2010, Experiences with Benefit Sharing: Issues and Options for REDD-Plus, Oslo, Norway:published for the International Union for Conservation of Nature by Pöyry Management Consulting. Available at: http://www.lindhjem.info/REDD+benefitsharing.pdf
- Lyster, R., 2011, REDD+, transparency, participation and resource rights: the role of law. Environmental Science & Policy, 14, pp. 118–126.
- Minang, P.A., McCall, M.K. and Bressers, H.T.A., 2007, Community Capacity for Implementing Clean Development Mechanism Projects Within Community Forests in Cameroon. Environmental management, 39(5), pp. 615–630.
- Montagnini, F. and Nair, P., 2004, Carbon sequestration: an underexploited environmental benefit of agroforestry systems. Agroforestry Systems, 61(1), pp. 281–295.
- Muchuba, R., 2009, The Indigenous Voice in the REDD Process in the Democratic Republic of Congo. Indigenous affairs, 1, pp. 32–37.
- Mwakalobo, A., Kajembe, G., Silayo, D., Nzunda, E., Zahabu, E., Maliondo, S., Kimaro, D.N., 2011, REDD and Sustainable Development Perspective

- from Tanzania. REDD Working Papers, London, UK:International Institute for Environment and Development. Available at: http://pubs.iied.org/pdfs/G03068.pdf
- Nabanoga, G., Namaalwa, J. and Ssenyonjo, E., 2010, REDD and Sustainable Development Perspective from Uganda. REDD Working Papers, London, UK:International Institute for Environment and Development. Available at: http://pubs.iied.org/pdfs/G02774.pdf
- Nelson, F. (ed.), 2010, Community rights, conservation and contested land: the politics of natural resource governance in Africa, Washington, DC: Earthscan.
- Nelson, K.C. and de Jong, B.H.J., 2003, Making global initiatives local realities: carbon mitigation projects in Chiapas, Mexico. Global Environmental Change, 13(1), pp. 19-30.
- Newmark, W.D. and Hough, J.L., 2000, Conserving Wildlife in Africa: Integrated Conservation and Development Projects and Beyond. BioScience, 50(7), pp. 585-592.
- Odgaard, R. and Maganga, F.P., 2009, Indigenous People and Forest Management Before and After REDD+, The case of Tanzania. Indigenous Affairs, 1, pp. 20-27.
- Oestreicher, J., Benessaiah, K., Ruiz-Jaen, M.C., Sloan, S., Turner, K., Pelletier, J., Guay, B., Clark, K.E., Roche, D.G. and Meiners, M., 2009, Avoiding deforestation in Panamanian protected areas: An analysis of protection effectiveness and implications for reducing emissions from deforestation and forest degradation. Global Environmental Change, 19(2), pp. 279-291.
- Oyono, P.R., Ribot, J.C., Mvondo, A. and Logo, P.B., 2007, Improving decentralized forest management in Cameroon: options and opportunities from ten years of experience. Governance Brief Number 33. Forests and Governance Programme, Bogor, Indonesia: CIFOR.
- Pagiola, S. & Bosquet, B., 2009, Estimating the costs of REDD at the country level. MPRA Paper No. 18062. Forest Carbon Partnership Facility, World Bank. Available at: http://mpra.ub.uni-muenchen.de/18062/
- Palm, C., Tomich, T., van Noordwijk, M., Vosti, S., Gockowski, J., Legre, J. and Verchot, L., 2004, Mitigating GHG emissions in the humid tropics: case studies from the Alternatives to Slash-and-Burn Program (ASB). Environment, Development and Sustainability, 6(1), pp. 145–162.

- Peskett, L., Huberman, D., Bowen-Jones, E., Edwards, G. and Brown, J., 2008, Making REDD work for the poor. Poverty Environment Partnership.
- Phelps, J., Webb, E. and Agrawal, A. 2010, Does REDD+ threaten to recentralize forest governance? Science, 328, pp. 312–313.
- Purdon, M., 2010, The clean development mechanism and community forests in Sub-Saharan Africa: reconsidering Kyoto's 'moral position' on biocarbon sinks in the carbon market. Environment, Development and Sustainability, 12(6), pp. 1025–1050.
- REDD+ Partnership, 2011, About the REDD+ Partnership. REDD+ Partnership website. Online: http://REDD+pluspartnership.org/73855/en/. [Accessed: 28 November 2011]
- Ribot, J.C. and Peluso, N.L., 2003, A Theory of Access. Rural sociology, 68(2), pp. 153–181.
- Richards, M. and Panfill, S., 2010, Manual for Social Impact Assessment of Land-Based Carbon Projects: Part I Core Guidance for Project Proponents 1st edition, Washington DC: Forest Trends, Climate, Community & Biodiversity Alliance, Rainforest Alliance and Fauna & Flora International.
- Roncoli, C., Jost, C., Perez, C., Moore, K., Ballo, A., Cisse, S. and Ouattara, K., 2007, Carbon sequestration from common property resources: Lessons from community-based sustainable pasture management in north-central Mali. Agricultural Systems, 94(1), pp. 97–109.
- Rosendal, G.K. & Andresen, S., 2011, Institutional design for improved forest governance through REDD: Lessons from the global environment facility. Ecological Economics, in press.
- Sandbrook, C., Nelson, F., Adams, W.M. and Agrawal, A., 2010, Carbon, forests and the REDD paradox. Oryx, 44(03), pp. 330–334.
- Sandker, M., Nyame, S.K., Förster, J., Collier, N., Shepherd, G., Yeboah, D., Ezinede Blas, D., Machwitz, M., Vaatainen, S., Garedew, E., Etoga, G., Ehringhaus, C., Anati, J., Quarm, O.D.K. and Campbell, B., 2010, REDD payments as incentive for reducing forest loss. Conservation Letters, 3(2), pp.114–121.
- Schroeder, H., 2010, Agency in international climate negotiations: the case of indigenous peoples and avoided deforestation. International Environmental Agreements, 10, pp. 317–332.
- Scoones, I., 1998, Sustainable rural livelihoods: a framework for analysis, Brighton, UK: Institute of Development Studies.

- Sena, K., 2009, REDD+ and Indigenous Peoples' Rights in Africa. *Indigenous Affairs*, pp. 1-2,10-19.
- Seymour, F. and Angelsen, A., 2009, Summary and conclusions. In: A. Angelsen (ed.), Realising REDD+: national strategy and policy options, Bogor, Indonesia:Centre for International Forestry Research, pp. 175-190.
- Sikor, T., Stahl, J., Enters, T., Ribot, J., Singh, N. and Sunderlin, W.D., 2010, REDD-plus, forest people's rights and nested climate governance. Global Environmental Change, 20(3), pp. 423–425.
- Sills, E., Madeira, E. and Sunderlin, W.D., 2009, The evolving landscape of REDD+ projects. In: A. Angelsen (ed.), Realising REDD+: national strategy and policy options, Bogor, Indonesia: Centre for International Forestry Research, pp. 265-279.
- Skutsch, M.M. and Ba, L., 2010, Crediting carbon in dry forests: The potential for community forest management in West Africa. Forest Policy and Economics, 12(4), pp. 264–270.
- Slunge, D., Ekbom, A., Loayza, F., Guthiga, P. and Nyangena, W., 2011, Can Strategic Environmental and Social Assessment of REDD+ Improve Forest Governance? Working Papers in Economics No 493, Göteborg, Sweden: Department of Economics, University of Gothenburg.
- SocialCarbon, 2011, SocialCarbon° Standard. Online: http://www.socialcarbon.org/uploadDocs/SOCIALCARBON_STANDARD_v.4.2.pdf. [Accessed 5 September 2011].
- Springate-Baginski, O. & Wollenberg, E. (eds.), 2010, REDD, forest governance and rural livelihoods: the emerging agenda, Bogor, Indonesia: Centre for International Forestry Research.
- Sunderlin, W.D., Dewi, S., Puntodewo, A., Müller, D., Angelsen, A. and Epprecht, M., 2008a, Why forests are important for global poverty alleviation: a spatial explanation. Ecology and Society, 13(2), p. 24.
- Sunderlin, W.D., Hatcher, J. and Liddle, M., 2008b, From exclusion to ownership? challenges and opportunities in advancing forest tenure reform, Washington DC: Rights and Resources Initiative. Available: www.rightsandresources.org/publication_details.php?publicationID=736
- Sunderlin, W.D. and Larson, A., 2009, Forest tenure rights and REDD. In: A. Angelsen (ed.), Realising REDD+ National strategy and policy options, Bogor, Indonesia: Centre for International Forestry Research, pp. 139–149.

- Sunderlin, W.D., Larson, A.M., Duchelle, A., Sillis, E.O., Luttrell, C., Jagger, P. Pattanayak, S., Cronkleton, P. and Ekaputri, A.D., 2010, Technical guidelines for research on REDD+ project sites, Bogor, Indonesia: Centre for International Forestry Research.
- Tacconi, L., Mahanty, S. and Suich, H. (eds.), 2010, Payments for Environmental Services, Forest Conservation and Climate Change. Livelihoods in the REDD?, Northampton, MA: Edward Elgar Publishing Limited.
- Thompson, M., Baruah, M. and Carr, E.R., 2011, Seeing REDD+ as a project of environmental governance. Environmental Science & Policy, 14, pp. 100–110.
- UN-REDD Programme, 2009, UN-REDD Programme Draft Social and Environmental Principles and Criteria and Benefits and Risks Tool. UN-REDD Programme website. Online: http://www.un-redd.org/Multiple_Benefits/SEPC_BeRT/tabid/991/Default.aspx. [Accessed 30 December 2011]
- UN-REDD Programme, 2011, 2010 Year in Review, UN-REDD Programme.
- UNFCCC, 2007, Draft decision -/CP.13. United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, 13th Conference of Parties to the UNFCCC, Bali.
- UNFCCC, 2009, Decision 2/CP.15 Copenhagen Accord.United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, 15th Conference of Parties to the UNFCCC, Copenhagen, Denmark.
- UNFCCC, 2010, Decision 1/CP.16.Add.1 Addendum, Part Two: Action taken by the Conference of the Parties in its sixteenth session. United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, 16th Conference of Parties to the UNFCCC, Cancun, Mexico.
- UNFCCC, 2011, Draft decision -/CP.17 Draft decision on guidance on systems for providing information on how safeguards are addressed and respected and modalities relating to forest reference emission levels and forest reference levels as referred to in decision 1/CP.16, appendix 1. United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, 17th Conference of Parties to the UNFCCC, Durban, South Africa.
- United Nations, 2009, World Population Prospects: The 2008 Revision, CD-ROM Edition. Available at: http://esa.un.org/unpd/wpp2008/xls_2008/DB02_Stock_Indicators/WPP2008_DB2_F01_TOTAL_POPULATION_BOTH_SEXES.XLS [Accessed 29 July 2010].

- United Nations, 2010, World Urbanization Prospects: The 2009 Revision, CD-ROM Edition. Available at: http://esa.un.org/unpd/wup/CD-ROM_2009/WUP2009-F04-Rural_Population.xls [Accessed 29 July 2010].
- Unruh, J.D., 2008, Carbon sequestration in Africa: the land tenure problem. Global Environmental Change, 18(4), pp. 700–707.
- Van Dam, C., 2011, Indigenous territories and REDD in Latin America: Opportunity or threat? Forests, 2(1), pp. 394–414.
- Van Noordwijk, M., Galudra, G., Akief-Nawati, R., Villamor, G.B., Purnomo, H. and Suyanto, 2011, Local Perspectives on REDD In comparison with those at the international negotiation tables and their representation in quantitative scenario models. Project Report, Bogor, Indonesia: World Agroforestry Centre.
- Vatn, A., Pétursson, J.G. and Stenslie, E., 2009, The REDD Direction the Potential for Reduced Forest Carbon Emissions, Biodiversity Protection and Enhanced Development. Noragric Report No. 51, Aas, Norway: Department of International Environment and Development Studies, Noragric, Norwegian University of Life Sciences. Available at: http://www.umb.no/statisk/noragric/publications/reports/2009-nor-rep-51.pdf
- Watson, R.T., Noble, I.R., Bolin, B., Ravindranath, N.H., Verardo, D.J. and Dokken, D.J. (eds.), 2000, Land use, land-use change, and forestry, New York, NY: published for the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change by Cambridge University Press.
- Westholm, L., 2010, Focali Country Burkina Faso. Focali Brief 2010:02, Gothenburg, Sweden: Focali.
- Westholm, L., Henders, S. and Ostwald, M., 2009, Assessment of existing global financial initiatives and monitoring aspects of carbon sinks in forest ecosystems—The issue of REDD. Focali Report 2009:01, Gothenburg, Sweden: Focali.
- Westholm, L. and Kokko, S., 2011, Prospects for REDD+: Local Forest Management and Climate Change Mitigation in Burkina Faso. Focali report 2011:01, Gothenburg, Sweden: Focali.
- White, H., 2008,Ofprobits and participation: the use of mixed methods in quantitative impact evaluation. IDS Bulletin, 39 (1), pp. 98-109.
- Wily, L.A., 2011, Rights to Resources in Crisis: Reviewing the Fate of Customary Tenure in Africa. Briefs on Reviewing the Fate of Customary Tenure in Africa, Washington DC: Rights and Resources Initiative.

Appendices

Appendix 1: Forest Activities for Learning about REDD+

Integrated Conservation and Development Projects (ICDPs)

REDD+ has a number of similarities to Integrated Conservation and Development Programs (ICDP), making them a useful source of learning for REDD+ (Blom *et al.* 2010; Brandon and Wells 2009). In most cases, ICDPs are driven by a goal of biodiversity conservation and involve forest-protected areas with programs aimed at surrounding communities. Like many ICDPs, many REDD+ activities will involve common land and have dual conservation and development goals, which will make documentation of success and failure in implementing ICDPs useful to those designing and implementing REDD+ activities (Brandon and Wells 2009). However, REDD+ will not necessarily be implemented in protected areas, has much larger scale funding than most ICDPs, and is driven by carbon sequestration, an environmental service that is considerably easier to quantify than biodiversity (Brandon and Wells 2009).

Community Forest Management (CFM)

For countries like Tanzania that are including community forest management (CFM) approaches in their implementation of REDD+, it will be important to learn from this type of community-based natural resource management (CBNRM) (Burgess *et al.* 2010). Pertinent learning from CFM for REDD+ relates to securing local support for REDD+, the creation of forest management units, benefit sharing, local participation in designing access rules, and approaches to monitoring and enforcement (Agrawal and Angelsen 2009; Gomera *et al.* 2010).

Payments for Environmental Services (PES)

Because many REDD+ initiatives will likely use payment for environmental service (PES) models to transfer benefits to forest people, a number of authors suggest looking to lessons from PES literature, in particular several examples of forest carbon projects in Africa (Angelsen 2009; Jindal *et al.* 2008; Tacconi *et al.* 2010). However, REDD+ will also be different from many PES schemes in that REDD+ will likely most often involve communal rather than private land (Tacconi *et al.* 2010). As such, tenure conflicts could make PES difficult to implement in REDD+, at least in the short term (Angelsen 2009). Notably, much of the evidence from PES case studies, particularly of long-term effects, is also still somewhat limited because, like REDD+, most PES initiatives have not been long underway (Bond *et al.* 2009). Because REDD+ is a carbon mitigation scheme, lessons from carbon forestry PES will likely be most pertinent. Because most forests in Africa fall under state ownership, with communities having common customary rights, PES schemes involving common lands will likely provide particularly useful lessons for REDD+.

Appendix 2: Assessing Social Impacts from REDD+

There is considerable need to increase our understanding of social impacts and standardize assessment for conservation, PES, and land-based carbon schemes (Campbell *et al.* 2008; Jagger *et al.* 2009; Richards and Panfil 2010). The considerable funds that have been promised for REDD+ present a sizeable opportunity to develop an organized, standardized research effort to document and learn from early attempts to implement REDD+, which could have beneficial outcomes for future REDD+ initiatives and conservation and development efforts more broadly (Jagger *et al.* 2009). Social and environmental impact assessments can also help in strengthening institutions and governance (Slunge *et al.* 2011). Evaluations of REDD+ will require both an understanding of social effects of REDD+ as well as the causal factors linked to those factors; as such, assessments of social impacts will require both process assessments (documenting and analysing project implementation) and rigorous impact assessments (measuring outcomes and evaluating these in light of what would have happened without REDD+) (Jagger *et al.* 2010).

The Network of Networks of Impact Evaluation (NONIE), a World Bank-hosted network of evaluators, recommend impact assessment be guided by nine key ideas, which are expanded upon in their guidance document (Leeuwand-Vaessen 2009):

- 1. Identify the type and scope of the intervention.
- 2. Agree on what is valued.
- 3. Carefully articulate the theories and linking interventions to outcomes.
- 4. Address the attribution problem.
- 5. Use a mixed methods approach.
- 6. Building existing knowledge.
- 7. Determine if an impact evaluation is feasible and worth the cost.
- 8. Start collecting data early.
- 9. Front-end planning is important.

Specific to the context of REDD+, a guide to assessing the local social and environmental impacts of land-based carbon projects was developed by a consortium of four international organizations, with the support of several key implementers of global REDD+ initiatives, including the World Bank and the United Nations

(Richards and Panfil 2010). Based on impact assessment concepts, this manual reflects many of the guiding ideas of NONIE, and provides an overarching framework for developing an impact assessment plan to understand local social and environmental impacts of land-based carbon projects like REDD+ activities. A similar approach is described specifically for REDD+ by Jagger *et al.* (2010). Their report, published by the Centre for International Forestry Research (CIFOR), emphasizes the importance of rigorous, quantitative impact assessments that are interpreted using a theory of change. Key steps in SIA for land-based carbon projects (elaborated in Richards and Panfil 2010) are:

- 1. Understand original site conditions.
- 2. Develop a Social Reference Scenario What would happen without the project?
- 3. Understand how the project will contribute to local benefits.
- 4. Understand potential negative social impacts.
- 5. Identify indicators.
- 6. Develop a Community Monitoring Plan to measure indicators.
- 7. Analyse data, report, and verify data with stakeholders.

Social impact assessment (SIA) in the context of land-based carbon projects emphasizes the importance of a mixed methods approach (Jagger *et al.* 2010; Richards and Panfil 2010). Mixed methods approaches combine qualitative and quantitative data (e.g. Frechtling *et al.* 1997; White 2008). Participatory approaches are recommended to help to ensure a more complete understanding of what is happening on the ground by involving local people in knowledge generation (Evans *et al.* 2006; Fortmann 2008). Impact assessment in general also emphasizes the importance of comparing data collected both before and after project implementation (Leeuw and Vaessen 2009; Richards and Panfil 2010).

A.1: Research Approaches

Information and data collection requirements for SIA vary depending on the indicators and research tools chosen. These will be chosen based on the approach to SIA used. The choice of approach will depend in part on timing and available resources (Jagger *et al.* 2010). Richards and Panfil (2010) and Jagger *et al.* (2010) identify several approaches to SIA, which are not mutually exclusive:

Causal models – Theory of change analysis is used to choose indicators most likely to change as a result of the project (Richards and Panfil 2010). Jagger *et al.* (2010) emphasize the importance of mapping causal chains in all REDD+ SIAs in order to understand the nature and influence of contextual characteristics of REDD+ sites, how REDD+ was implemented, generating hypotheses about expected outcomes, determining qualitative and quantitative data needed to test hypotheses, and linking social impacts with causal factors.

Sustainability framework approaches – An existing framework is used to guide design of the SIA and choice of indicators and research tools. For example, a Sustainable Livelihoods framework (Scoones 1998) or the Social Carbon Standard (SocialCarbon 20011 may be used (Richards and Panfil 2010). The Landscape Outcomes Assessment Methodology is suggested as a participatory cost-effective approach to indicator selection (Aldrich and Sayer 2007; Richards and Panfil 2010).

Matched control intervention – Also simply called a matched methods approach (Richards and Panfil 2010), this quasi-experimental approach relies on comparing, usually statistically, observational data from project areas to a control group of non-participants chosen because they have similar characteristics (Jagger *et al.* 2010; Richards and Panfil 2010). This method can be implemented after a project has started (Jagger *et al.* 2010).

Randomisation – A method that involves random assignment of project and control sites that is able to influence project design (Jagger *et al.* 2010). It is implemented before the project starts.

Before-after-control-intervention (BACI) – A quasi-experimental approach where data is collected at control and project sites before and after project implementation (Jagger *et al.* 2010). This approach is commonly used in conservation program evaluations. BACI is a preferred approach; however, it is time and resource-intensive because it requires data collection both before and after project implementation at both project and control sites.

Before-after + **projected counterfactual** – A quasi-experimental modelling method that often uses data on historical trends (Jagger *et al.* 2010). It is implemented before the project starts.

Reflexive or retrospective – Changes due to a project are estimated based on perceptions or participant recall (Jagger *et al.* 2010). This method can be implemented after a project starts.

In addition, Jagger *et al.* (2010) provide guidelines for SIA in cases where REDD+ is implemented based on existing forest management programs and interventions.

A.2: Research Tools

There are a number of different research methods that can be used within these SIA approaches; a selection of these tools is summarized in the following table. Additional resources with suggestions for approaches and data collection tools can be found in Jagger *et al.* (2010). Many of these tools rely on basic data collection techniques, like surveys, interviews, focus groups, etc. summarized in Richards and Panfil (2010). Different approaches and tools will be appropriate for different types of REDD+ projects (Jagger *et al.* 2010). Sunderlin *et al.* (2010) provides guidelines for field data collection, including social data, at REDD+ sites and includes sample questionnaires for collecting household data.

Summary of tools for exploring social impacts of REDD+

Method	Description and uses	Information requirements	General comments	References, examples and guides
Stakeholder analysis	Does not assess impacts, but identifies and relates stakeholder groups and their likely reaction tothe project. Important for framing SIA and selecting indicators.	List of stakeholders and relationships between stakeholders are evaluated through brainstorming, interviews, focus groups, and other participatory methods like Venn diagraming.	Social science methods	Richards and Panfil 2010; Evans et al. 2006
Problem trees	Useful mainly in step 3 of SIA for identifying and describing the nature and underlying causes of major project issues.	Project stakeholders draw a tree linking a project goal to related social, environmental and economic factors.		Richards and Panfil 2010
Scenario analysis	Useful mainly in steps 4 and 5 of SIA for understanding what would happen in the absence of a project.			Richards and Panfil 2010; Evans <i>et al.</i> 2006

Summary of tools for exploring social impacts of REDD+ (Contd)

Method	Description and uses	Information requirements	General comments	References, examples and guides
Rapid rural appraisal	Provides a quick, initial qualitative assessment of a situation. Intended to guide future in-depth research and preliminary decisions for design and implementation of projects.	What can be collected by a small interdisciplinary team (1-2) using methods including observations and unstructured interviews.	Developed primarily for use in rural development projects; combines social science approaches including systems methodology, triangulation from multiple research methods and an iterative approach.	Beebe 1995; Evans et al. 2006
Basic necessities survey	Measures changes in poverty over time based on participant-defined basic needs. A quick and low cost method that requires a control.	Basic needs determined via focus group, then assessed via surveys in control and project communities.	Developed by an NGO for SIA of protected areas.	Richards and Panfil 2010

Summary of tools for exploring social impacts of REDD+ (Contd)

(====)	nts References, examples and guides	Richards and Panfil 2010; Catley <i>et al.</i> 2008	Richards and Panfil 2010 nd efits	Richards and Panfil 2010
	General comments	Developed by the Feinstein International Centre for evaluation of humanitarian emergency and development projects.	Designed to monitor environmental and non-market benefits of watershed protection initiatives.	A variation on contingent valuation.
and were secretary	Information requirements	Depend on indicators and methods chosen – a variety of participatory approaches are possible.	Focus groups and community assessments are used to measure perceived changes in indicators.	A series of ranking exercises that can be done individually or in groups.
()	Description and uses	A multi-step participatory approach to selecting and measuring SIA indicators. Low cost, can be used without a control. Requires time-intensive planning and implementation.	A participatory scoring system to translate qualitative understanding into quantitative measures. Quick, does not require a baseline. Difficult to repeat studies for longitudinal understanding.	Estimation of value of benefits based on equivalent value in a commonly traded good. Useful for ranking, but not absolute value. Less effective for determining costs; therefore, should be combined with other methods
1	Method	Participatory impact assessment	Quantitative participatory assessment	Participatory economic valuation

Summary of tools for exploring social impacts of REDD+ (Contd)

Method	Description and uses	Information requirements	General comments	References, examples and guides
The most significant change method	A participatory method for monitoring throughout the project. It is particularly useful for gathering data on unexpected negative impacts. Very time-intensive.	A group of selected stakeholders is introduced to the approach and then involved in ongoing evaluation and monitoring exercises, including selecting monitoring domains and collecting qualitative and quantitative data about these domains.	A type of participatory monitoring and evaluation.	Richards and Panfil 2010
FERVA	Analysis of fairness and efficiency along the REDD+ value chain.	A simulation model quantifying distributional effects of REDD+ benefits is combined with data on perceived fairness collected from focus groups.	Developed for REDD+ evaluations by ICRAF.	Van Noordwijk <i>et al.</i> 2011

RFGI WORKING PAPER SERIES

The Responsive Forest Governance Initiative (RFGI) is a research and training program, focusing on environmental governance in Africa. It is jointly managed by the Council for the Development of Social Sciences Research in Africa (CODESRIA), the International Union for the Conservation of Nature (IUCN) and the University of Illinois at Urbana Champaign (UIUC). Natural resources, especially forests, are very important since they provide local governments and local people with needed revenue, wealth, and subsistence. Responsive local governments can provide forest resource-dependent populations the flexibility they need to manage, adapt to and remain resilient in their changing environment. RFGI aims to enhance and help institutionalize widespread responsive and accountable local governance processes that reduce vulnerability, enhance local wellbeing, and improve forest management with a special focus on developing safeguards and guidelines to ensure fair and equitable implementation of the Reduced Emissions from Deforestation and Forest Degradation (REDD+) and climate-adaptation interventions.

RFGI is a programe of the Council for the Development of Social Science Research in Africa, International Union for the Conservation of Nature, and University of Illinois at Urbana–Champaign.

Council for the Development of Social Science Research in Africa (CODESRIA) is an independent pan-African research organisation primarily focusing on social sciences research. It was established to promote and facilitate research and knowledge production using a holistic, multi-disciplinary approach. The Council is committed to combating the fragmentation of knowledge production, and the African community of scholars along various disciplinary and linguistic/geographical lines. http://www.codesria.org

International Union for the Conservation of Nature (IUCN) is a leading authority on the environment and sustainable development focusing in part on ensuring effective and equitable governance of natural resource use. IUCN supports scientific research, manages field projects all over the world, and brings governments, NGOs, the UN and companies together to develop policy, laws and best practice. RFGI works with IUCN's Regional Offices for Central and West Africa (PACO) and Eastern and Southern Africa (ESARO) and the Headquarters in Switzerland. http://www.iucn.org

University of Illinois at Urbana–Champaign is a public research-intensive university in the U.S. state of Illinois. A land-grant university, it is the flagship campus of the

University of Illinois system. At UIUC, RFGI activities are part of the Social Dimensions of Environmental Policy Initiative (SDEP) of the Department of Geography and Geographic Information Science and the Beckman Institute.

http://sdep.beckman.illinois.edu







